
Date Published:23 June 2022     

Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny Committee

Tuesday 5 July 2022 at 10.00 am

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester

AGENDA

1  APOLOGIES 

To note any apologies for absence 

Cllr Stephan 
Fifield

2  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

To record any declarations of interest made at the meeting

Cllr Stephan 
Fifield

3  MINUTES (Pages 1 - 16)

To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 10 May 2022 (attached) 

Cllr Stephan 
Fifield

SCRUTINY ITEMS

4  NEW LIBRARY STRATEGY (Pages 17 - 34)

To comment on the Draft Library Strategy, (outlining the vision and aims 
for Gloucestershire’s modern library service). The views of the committee 
to form part of a 12 week public consultation process commencing 4 July 
2022. Final recommendations to be submitted for approval by Cabinet in 
November 2022, pending implementation of the new strategy from 1 April 
2023.

Jane Everiss
(Head of Library 
and Registration 
Services)

INFORMATION REPORTS

5  CHIEF FIRE OFFICER REPORT (Pages 35 - 46)

An update on matters relating to the portfolio of services delivered by the 
Chief Fire Officer, (Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service), and within 
the remit of the Gloucestershire County Council Adult Social Care and 

Mark Preece
(Chief Fire 
Officer)



    

Communities Scrutiny Committee, (Trading Standards, Civil Protection 
and Coroners Services). The update to include a presentation on the work 
of the Civil Protection Team.

Louise Antonova
(Civil Protection 
Team)

6  PUBLIC HEALTH REPORT (Pages 47 - 58)

An update from the Executive Director of Adult Social Care and Public 
Health, (Gloucestershire County Council), on matters relating to public 
health in Gloucestershire. 

Professor Sarah 
Scott (Executive 
Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Public Health)

7  ADULT SOCIAL CARE REPORT (Pages 59 - 74)

An update from the Executive Director of Adult Social Care and Public 
Health, (Gloucestershire County Council), on matters relating to adult 
social care in Gloucestershire.

Professor Sarah 
Scott (Executive 
Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Public Health)

8  QUARTER 4 PERFORMANCE REPORT (2021/22) (Pages 75 - 84)

To consider performance data, (Quarter 4 of 2021/22), relating to the 
delivery of services within the remit and context of the committee.

Cllr Stephan 
Fifield

9  WORK PLAN (Pages 85 - 86)

To suggest items for consideration at future meetings

6 September 2022
15 November 2022

Cllr Stephan 
Fifield

Membership –  Cllr Stephan Fifield (Chair), Cllr Cate Cody, Cllr Terry Hale, Cllr Stephen Hirst, 
Cllr Steve Robinson, Cllr Lisa Spivey (Vice-Chair), Cllr Pam Tracey MBE, Cllr Susan Williams and 
Cllr Suzanne Williams 

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification about 
whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact Rob Ayliffe, Monitoring 
Officer/Head of Strategic Planning, Performance & Change.  01452 328506 e-mail: 
rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior to the meeting.

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect minutes or 
reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact: Jo Moore, Senior Democratic Services Adviser :01452 
324196/fax: 425240/e-mail: jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk

 

Please note that photography, filming and audio recording of Council meetings is 
permitted subject to the Local Government Access to Information provisions.  Please 
contact Democratic Services (Tel 01452 324202) to make the necessary arrangements 
ahead of the meeting.  If you are a member of the public and do not wish to be 
photographed or filmed please inform the Democratic Services Officer on duty at the 
meeting.

mailto:rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk


    

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please leave as 
directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point which is outside the main entrance to 
Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and await further instructions.



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Minutes of the meeting of the Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny Committee 
held on Tuesday 10 May 2022 in the Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester.

Present Cllr Stephen Hirst (Chair)
Cllr Alastair Chambers
Cllr Cate Cody
Cllr Mark Mackenzie-Charrington
Cllr Lisa Spivey (Vice-Chair)

Cllr Pam Tracey MBE
Cllr Suzanne Williams
Cllr Terry Hale
Cllr Steve Robinson

1. APOLOGIES 

No apologies from the members of the committee. 

Other apologies noted at the meeting included: - 

Mark Preece, (Chief Fire Officer for Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service). 
Mark was represented at the meeting by Gavin Roberts, (Assistant Chief Fire 
Officer). 

Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee members, Cllrs Emma 
Nelson and Cllr Linda Cohen. Members of the Children and Families Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee had been invited to join the meeting to contribute to the 
discussion on item 4, (Council Motion 890 – Domestic Abuse). 

It was noted that Helen Gentles had recently replaced Nikki Richardson as the 
Healthwatch Gloucestershire representative for the committee but was unable to 
attend the meeting and had sent her apologies.

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

No declarations of interest were made at the meeting.

3. MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting held on 8 March 2022 were noted and agreed as a 
correct record of that meeting. 

4. COUNCIL MOTION 890 - DOMESTIC ABUSE 

At the Gloucestershire County Council meeting held on 8 December 2021, 
members requested that the Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny 
Committee and the Children and Families Scrutiny Committee consider the 
Domestic Abuse Needs Assessment for Gloucestershire and Gloucestershire 
Domestic Abuse Strategy. In particular, the two committees were asked to 
scrutinise the Council’s partnership working arrangements to ensure sufficient 
accommodation and support was being provided to the victims of domestic abuse 
and their children. 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

Claire Procter, (Head of Commissioning: Public Mental Health and Domestic 
Abuse), and Tina Hemingway, (Senior Commissioning Manager from the 
Prevention Wellbeing and Communities Hub), at Gloucestershire County Council 
and Ruth Saunders, (Director of Communities at Gloucester City Council and Chair 
of the County Strategic Housing Group), gave an in-depth presentation on the 
findings of the local Domestic Abuse Needs Assessment and the work being 
undertaken to support the victims of Domestic Abuse in Gloucestershire, before 
responding to questions, including questions on how the provision of 
accommodation for victims of domestic abuse links to local authority statutory 
housing duties. The slideshow presentation presented at the meeting is attached to 
the minutes and available to view on the Gloucestershire County Council website.

Andy Dempsey, (Director of Partnerships and Strategy: Children’s Services), at 
Gloucestershire County Council and the members of the Children and Families 
Scrutiny Committee were in attendance at the meeting, (committee members via 
remote access), to engage in the discussion and to consider the committee’s 
response to Council Motion 890.

Prior to the meeting, members were asked to familiarise themselves with the 
Gloucestershire Domestic Abuse Needs Assessment and the Gloucestershire 
Domestic Abuse Strategy (2021-24). Both documents are available on the County 
Council website and can be viewed at the links above.

Cllr Stephen Hirst, Chair of the Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny 
Committee, informed members that, following the discussion, he would be seeking 
the views of both committees, to include as a formal response to Council Motion 
890. Comments from the meeting to be included in a draft statement for 
consideration by both committees prior to presentation to full council by the 
respective Chairs.

The following information was noted: -  

Under the Domestic Abuse Act 2021, Tier 1 Local Authorities have a statutory duty 
to provide support to the victims of domestic abuse, (and their children), residing 
within refuge and other ‘domestic abuse safe accommodation’. 

Each council must:- 

a) Produce a Domestic Abuse Needs Assessment; 
b) Publish a local strategy to demonstrate how the council will meet the need to 

provide support in that area, and 
c) Convene a Local Domestic Abuse Partnership Board 

Gloucestershire County Council has received grant funding from the Department for 
Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) to support the implementation of 
the new duty. The DLUHC allocated non-ring-fenced funding on an annual basis to 
support both Tier 1 and Tier 2 local authorities fulfil their statutory obligations. The 

Page 2

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2110543/gloucestershire-domestic-abuse-needs-assessment-final-august-2021.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2110605/gcc-domestic-abuse-strategy.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2110605/gcc-domestic-abuse-strategy.pdf


Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

County Council received allocations of £1,105,661 for 2021/22; and £1,108,722 for 
2022/23.

The findings of the Gloucestershire Domestic Abuse Needs Assessment identified a 
number of areas for development. These included; the need for training of frontline 
staff to support early identification of Domestic Abuse; ongoing awareness raising 
and community engagement to increase reports of domestic abuse; improvements 
in risk assessment and referral into specialist services; and the need to support the 
victims of Domestic Abuse who have complex needs, and/or experience multiple 
disadvantages.

In line with the council motion, the Gloucestershire Domestic Abuse Needs 
Assessment also identified the need to increase Domestic Abuse ‘specific 
accommodation’ across all tenures in the county, as well as growing capacity in the 
county’s existing community-based support services.

The findings of the Needs Assessment form the basis of 5 priority areas set out in 
the Gloucestershire Domestic Abuse Strategy. These include: - 

Priority 1: Prevention and early intervention 
Priority 2: Multi-agency working and pathway development 
Priority 3: Workforce development
Priority 4: High quality domestic abuse services for victims and their families, 
including the provision of safe accommodation
Priority 5: Breaking the cycle of perpetrator behaviour.

A three-year multi-agency delivery plan had been developed to support the 
implementation process of the Gloucestershire Domestic Abuse Strategy. 

Implementation of the strategy will be overseen by the Domestic Abuse Local 
Partnership Board (LPB), who report to Safer Gloucestershire. The Domestic Abuse 
Local Partnership Board (chaired by the County Council) includes representatives 
from Gloucestershire Police, the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner, 
criminal justice system, NHS providers and health commissioners, District 
Authorities and local domestic abuse commissioned services. The Board consists 
of three separate groups: a strategic group, an operational group and a consultation 
(virtual) group. The consultation group will ensure local decision making is informed 
by engagement with a wide range of stakeholders, including those with lived 
experience of domestic abuse and their children. 

Since 2013, Gloucestershire has focussed on using a community-based approach 
to support victims of domestic abuse, enabling victims/ survivors and their children 
to stay in their own homes, (where safe to do so), via the provision of sanctuary 
schemes and ‘target hardening’, which involves the installation of additional security 
measures in the home. Victims also receive specialist support from services such 
as the Gloucestershire Domestic Abuse Support Service (GDASS). While 
community-based support is the preferred option for some victims, it was noted that 
there is also a need to provide dedicated safe accommodation for those victims 
who are unable to remain safe in their own homes.

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

Currently, victims of DA who are unable to stay in their homes can access a range 
of accommodation options provided across the county, including 12 ‘Places of 
Safety’ (commissioned by the district authorities), and the Refuge run by the Stroud 
Beresford Group, which provides 9 bed spaces. Emergency and short-term 
accommodation is also available in B&Bs and hostels, although these are not DA 
specific. 

In 2019/20, 90 victims of domestic abuse had not been able to be accommodated 
at the Refuge. From 1 April 2018 to 31 December 2020, 45 victims had been 
housed in Places of Safety, but a further 105 had not been able to be 
accommodated. It was explained that there were a number of reasons why 
individuals may not be able to access the support provided by either the Refuge or 
Places of Safety. In some circumstances, the accommodation that is offered may 
not be suitable for the individual’s needs or the family circumstances. The individual 
may also have found alternative support. Availability of a space is also a factor. 

In line with the findings of the local Needs Assessment, the Gloucestershire 
Domestic Abuse Strategy includes a commitment to ensure that the ‘identified local 
need for specialist domestic abuse safe accommodation is addressed’ through 
‘robust collaboration between Gloucestershire’s Tier 1 and Tier 2 Local Authorities’. 
The strategy commits the Council and its partners to ensuring all victims of 
domestic abuse and their children have access to the right support within safe 
accommodation when they need it.

DLUHC grant funding will be used to increase the provision of support in domestic 
abuse safe accommodation in the county, working in conjunction with the district 
councils. In July 2021, GCC Cabinet approved use of the DLUHC funding for the 
following provisions: - 

a) Twelve new Places of Safety (to be commissioned via the district councils) 
and funding for the specialist DA support costs for victims residing in the 
Places of Safety expected to be c.24 clients a year. 

b) Provision of two units each consisting of 4 beds to provide ‘dispersed 
refuge’: self-contained single units of accommodation available to DA victims 
(this will be a pilot project and options were currently being scoped).

c) Annual investment of £100,000 (for up to three years) into the Stroud 
Beresford Refuge; funding an additional 70 staffing hours per week 
supporting women and children.

d) Funding for the Flexible Funding Scheme – this is a funding pot to provide 
timely and personalised funds or services to victims of domestic abuse for 
housing related needs.

e) Funding for ‘Floating Support’/Mobile Advocacy to support individuals 
accommodated in Places of Safety.

f) Investment in support for DA victims remaining in their own homes with 
‘target hardening’ (sanctuary) enhanced security measures in place. 

g) Funding for new posts to provide specialist DA advice to district housing 
teams across the county and support victims presenting as homeless to 
access accommodation based support. 

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

Officers were currently drawing up plans to invest the balance of funding from the 
21/22 DLUHC grant in other areas of work. The investment to be made will be 
considered in discussion with the Local Partnership Board. The strategy also 
includes an action for the Board to explore new and innovative approaches to 
providing specialist safe accommodation in the county, for which work is ongoing 
with partners. 

In addition to the schemes listed above, the local delivery plan incorporates several 
additional actions to improve support in DA safe accommodation. 

These actions included: 

a) Working with housing providers in the county to promote the Domestic 
Abuse Housing Alliance (DAHA) accreditation programme - a quality 
benchmark for how housing providers respond to DA;

b) Developing an action plan to support the development of a Whole Housing 
Approach in the county - a best practice model (recognised by Government) 
for improving the housing options and outcomes for people experiencing 
domestic abuse; and

c) Exploring options for cross-border collaboration to support victims of DA to 
access safe accommodation. Sometimes it may be appropriate for victims to 
access support out of county.

Members agreed it would be important to monitor the progress of the work to 
address the need/demand for accommodation-based support. Progress to be 
monitored via the Local Partnership Board. In addition, officers were working with 
partners to develop a data set to monitor whether the ‘need’ for accommodation-
based support is met. This will be refreshed annually and reviewed every three 
years when the Needs Assessment is rewritten in line with statutory requirements. 

Members were advised that, as a Tier 1 Authority, the County Council only had a 
statutory duty for providing support to victims of domestic abuse residing in safe 
accommodation. There was, however, no statutory duty to provide accommodation. 
Nevertheless, there was a clear commitment within the Gloucestershire Domestic 
Abuse Strategy for the Council to work with its partners, (in particular, the district 
authorities), to meet the need to ensure domestic abuse accommodation is 
available in Gloucestershire. 

As local Housing Authorities, district councils play an essential role in providing 
accommodation-based support for victims of domestic abuse. The Domestic Abuse 
Act requires Tier 2 local authorities to co-operate with Tier 1 local authorities to 
support delivery of the statutory duty. The districts are represented on the Local 
Partnership Board and new posts have been established within the Gloucestershire 
Strategic Housing Partnership to lead on the domestic abuse and housing agenda 
at the district level. DLUHC funding can only be used for providing support to those 
residing in DA safe accommodation.

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

Outlining some of the factors affecting the pace at which support can be provided, it 
was noted that there was a limited amount of social/local authority housing stock 
available in the county to offer to the victims of domestic abuse. While district 
councils remain committed to identifying new DA specific ‘Places of Safety’, the 
availability of accommodation may have an impact on how quickly spaces can be 
secured.

Noting how some groups of domestic abuse may experience additional challenges 
in accessing safe accommodation or seeking support. The Needs Assessment 
highlighted how to best support victims of DA with multiple complex needs, (such as 
substance misuse or mental health issues), who may require more intensive 
support, or victims with other vulnerabilities. The three-year multi-agency delivery 
plan includes actions to address this issue, including working with the Domestic 
Abuse & Sexual Violence Consultation Officer to carry out engagement with 
victims/survivors across all groups. 

As a statutory duty, Tier 1 local authorities are required to provide support to the 
victims of DA and their children who reside in safe accommodation. The 2021 
Domestic Abuse Act recognises that children, (under the age of 18 years), who 
experience the effects of abuse in their home are victims in their own right rather 
than witnesses. 

As noted by the Needs Assessment, there is no dedicated service commissioned 
by the county to provide support to all children who witness domestic abuse under 
the age of 13 years. It was confirmed that the Local Partnership Board was looking 
at the findings from the current Needs Assessment in relation to children and young 
people to feed into the next update of the local DA Strategy and Delivery Plan. 
Members requested an update on this particular aspect of work at a future meeting 
and this was noted. Action – include on the committee work plan.

Acknowledging comments relating to the impact of domestic abuse on children and 
young people from the County Council’s Director of Partnerships & Strategy for 
Children’s Services and one of the Young Ambassadors present at the meeting, 
members acknowledged the breadth of the work in place to protect and safeguard 
children from the consequences of domestic abuse in the home. The impact of the 
recent Ofsted inspection on providing training opportunities and upskilling social 
workers to recognise the early signs of domestic abuse on families remained a 
challenge. The government focus on providing safe accommodation for victims of 
domestic abuse, in contrast to the level of focus directed at protecting children as 
victims of domestic abuse, was noted.

Members welcomed the in-depth presentation and the amount of work being 
invested into supporting the victims and their families of domestic abuse.

The following comments were made at the meeting: -

1) Housing provision in terms of providing safe accommodation remains a 
challenge. It was suggested that an area of focus for local planning 
authorities to consider when considering planning applications for new 

Page 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

developments was to ensure that the right mix of accommodation was 
provided, in addition to an appropriate number of school places. Members 
supported the proposal that the provision of accommodation based support 
for victims of domestic abuse form a key component of the planning 
application process going forward;

2) Acknowledging the likely consequences of the current economic ‘cost of 
living’ crisis on the UK, members stressed the need to avoid placing victims 
of domestic abuse in unaffordable properties as places of safety, (it was 
acknowledged that victims would usually be able to claim relevant benefits). 
It was agreed a number of factors needed to be considered when conducting 
assessments/making placements, and that work with landlords and 
accommodation providers was critical; 

3) Members supported the close working relationship in existence between the 
County Council and its partners, in particular, the work between the County 
Council and the districts. It was agreed local knowledge and information 
were vital resources when assessing the needs of domestic abuse victims 
and their families; 

4) One member questioned the risks to children, if left in the family home with 
the perpetrator. Reinforcing the need to safeguard the children of domestic 
abuse victims, members emphasised the importance of early invention, 
alongside the need to work with perpetrators. It was confirmed that 
Gloucestershire’s long standing commitment of working with perpetrators 
was an important mechanism to increasing the safety and wellbeing of both 
the victim and their families. One member advocated the need to include 
more focus on working with schools to ensure children affected by domestic 
abuse were not overlooked. 

5) Whilst acknowledging the levels of funding being invested to support the 
victims of domestic abuse, several members remained concerned about the 
numbers of victims seeking refuge but not being offered a place of safety. 
One member expressed concern about the additional pressures being 
placed on district councils due to the increasing number of victims requiring 
refuge and questioned whether current levels of accommodation were 
sufficient to accommodate the number of people seeking support. 

6) It was agreed the need to better understand pressures across the whole 
housing system was essential. This would ensure enough accommodation 
was available throughout the system as a whole to facilitate the timely move 
out of specialist DA safe accommodation into longer term settled 
accommodation, and thereby freeing up specialist DA accommodation for 
others.

Members endorsed the work being undertaken to support the victims of domestic 
abuse and their families in Gloucestershire.

Page 7



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 8 -

It was agreed that the comments made at this meeting should be fed back to Full 
Council, supplemented with the request that a further update, (to incorporate the 
work of the Local Partnership Board, plus the outcomes of any work relating to early 
intervention), be presented to the committee in 12 months’ time. The committee 
requested that the report presented at this meeting be included in the feedback to 
full council and this was noted.

Members thanked Claire and the presenting officers for their comprehensive and in-
depth presentation.

The report was noted.

5. COMMUNITY DRUG AND ALCOHOL SERVICE UPDATE 

Helen Flitton, Head of Commissioning, (Complex Needs), gave an update on the 
current position of Drug and Alcohol (Adult) Services in Gloucestershire. Rae 
Davies, (Change, Grow, Live Gloucestershire Services Manager), and Steve 
O’Neill, (Senior Commissioning Manager), contributed to the discussion and 
responded to questions.

The update follows on from a report to the committee in September 2021, in 
response to the Professor Dame Carol Black Review of Drugs: Prevention, 
Treatment and Recovery, where it was agreed that the committee receive a more 
in-depth report when details of the new National Drugs Strategy were known and 
following completion of the local strategic review of drug and alcohol in the county.

In December 2021, in response to the Dame Carol Black Review, the Government 
subsequently published a new ten-year drugs plan, (a national strategy), with 
additional investments awarded to the criminal justice system and to local 
authorities, (via through section 31 grants), to ensure the objectives of the plan 
could be achieved. The new strategy focussed on delivering three strategic 
priorities: breaking drug supply chains; delivering a world class treatment and 
recovery system and achieving a generational shift in the demand for drugs.

In response to the strategy, commissioners at Gloucestershire County Council have 
engaged with local partners across the system and via the Gloucestershire Drug 
and Alcohol Working Group (GDAWG) to agree the focus for the allocation of funds 
to Gloucestershire. The findings of the recent strategic review of drug and alcohol 
use in Gloucestershire helped to inform the decision-making process for the 
allocation of funds and how best to invest the additional monies. 

Members noted that a national outcomes framework had been produced, the details 
of which were due to be published later that month. The framework would 
concentrate on the following priorities; reducing overall drug use; reducing drug 
related crime; reducing drug related deaths and harms; reducing the levels of drug 
supply; improving recovery outcomes and increasing engagement in treatment. The 
new national commissioning quality standards would provide support to local areas 
for the alignment of services in order to meet the required outcomes.

Page 8



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 9 -

Gloucestershire County Council’s responsibilities for the commissioning of drug and 
alcohol recovery services is a condition of the Public Health Grant. Since January 
2017, the community drug and alcohol service has been commissioned under a 
seven year contract by ‘Change, Grow, Live’. Monitored by GCC, the contract ends 
in March 2024. 

Throughout the pandemic, Change, Grow, Live (CGL) Gloucestershire, continued to 
provide the county with a balanced treatment system, working closely with the 
council to bring those most in danger of harm into the service and to provide 
opportunities to promote good health and move on to recovery. 
In response to some of the more complex cases, a multi-agency meeting was 
convened to consider how best to achieve positive outcomes for those most at risk, 
including people sleeping rough and heavily dependent. This work is ongoing. 

Members were advised that it had been difficult to maintain a positive performance 
record over the past two years, as reflected by the corporately reported 
performance indicators for the service. Recruitment had been particularly 
challenging during the pandemic, both locally and nationally, placing additional 
pressure on the number of caseloads required to process and on the ability of 
providers in achieving desired outcomes. 

The strategic review of drug and alcohol use in Gloucestershire recommenced in 
late 2021, following a pause during the pandemic. The aim of the review was to 
help inform strategic partnerships, including Safer Gloucestershire and the Health 
and Wellbeing Board about current drug and alcohol related concerns and specific 
issues. A review of the latest data had been carried out, alongside engagement and 
consultation work with stakeholders and service users. 

CGL received positive feedback across a wide range of areas, including outreach 
and in-reach services. Partnership working initiatives were considered to be 
working well and improving accessibility for targeted groups. There continued to be 
concerns about drug and alcohol users with mental issues; heroin users and 
substance misuse by children and young people. 

The new drug strategy, the first to commit both government and public services to 
working together to share the responsibility of creating a safer, healthier, more 
productive society, is a key driver for the future commissioning of substance misuse 
services. Members noted that, moving towards the end of the current contract, the 
council would need to consider whether the current service model was able to meet 
the expectations of the new strategy. 

Alongside the national strategic plan, the local strategic review and other 
transformational work included in the Gloucestershire system, (complex needs; 
mental health; rough sleeping), will help inform the services to be commissioned 
from April 2024. It was agreed that it was important to work in partnership in order 
to achieve better outcomes.

Responding to questions, the following points were made during the meeting: 

Page 9



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 10 -

1) The recommissioning of services in 2024-25 to take into account current 
thinking/existing themes and, where possible, try to keep services accessible 
to all;

2) One member questioned the impact of drug and alcohol misuse on domestic 
abuse, with particular reference to the safeguarding of children and young 
people. It was confirmed that, throughout the lifetime of the current CGL 
Gloucestershire Services contract, there had been an increased focus on 
working with children’s services to protect and reduce harm to children and 
families at risk from parental substance misuse;

3) Another member expressed concern about the performance rate of opiate 
users, (collective term used to describe drugs including heroin, morphine, 
opium, methadone and buprenorphine), who had left treatment successfully 
and not returned within 6 months of treatment. The performance rate for this 
group was 4.1% in Quarter 3. 

4) Concerns were also raised about possible drug users slipping through the 
net/not included in performance data records. It was clarified that, although 
the number of opiate completions was low, it should be noted that, at any 
one time, up to 1000 people might be in treatment across the county. Current 
performance data did not reflect the overall picture and was something that 
was being investigated. 

5) Combined efforts from police, doctors, non-medical practitioners, supported 
housing services and various groups and workshops, (approximately 90 full 
time staff), focussed on ensuring people did not slip through the net. 

6) Responding to questions on recruitment and retention, members were 
informed that, (supplemented by new funding), recruitment was being 
targeted at both national and local level. An increased number of care 
navigators was being targeted in an effort to increase the number of people 
receiving treatment. Apprenticeship schemes were also used to attract more 
young people to the service.

7) One Gloucester City committee member highlighted the number of drug 
users in the City and enquired about the merits of re-establishing a drop in 
centre for people to seek help. Another committee member enquired about 
the lack of local provision in rural areas, with particular reference to the 
Cotswold District. Members were advised that, where it was not possible to 
deliver intervention services in rural locations, transport could be arranged, 
and home visits. 

Officers acknowledged the significant challenges ahead. People needing treatment 
for drug and alcohol related issues were often the victims of complex lives, with no 
easy fix to some of the issues. Working with a team of experienced commissioners 
and providers, alongside other departments and partner organisations, there was a 
great deal of positive work being invested in addressing some of the complex 
issues.  

Page 10



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 11 -

The committee thanked officers for their report and commended the commitment 
and work being undertaken as part of the county’s strategic plan. 

The report was noted. 

6. CHIEF FIRE OFFICER REPORT 

Gavin Roberts, (Assistant Chief Fire Officer), informed the committee that, (after 
considering the Trading Standards Presentation), he would respond to questions 
relating to the delivery of the other services delivered by Gloucestershire Fire and 
Rescue Service and within the remit of the Adult Social Care and Communities 
Scrutiny Committee, (Civil Protection Service and Coroners Service). 

Gavin invited Karen Smith, Head of Regulatory Services and Consumer Protection, 
to give an overview of the work of the Gloucestershire Trading Standards Team, 
including information relating to Firework Regulations. 

Members noted the following information: - 

Fireworks sold at retail level are classified as HT (hazard type) 4, the lowest hazard 
classification.  H4 fireworks must be stored in a fire resistant cabinet or container 
and in a dry area away from risk of ignition. For further information, please refer to 
the House of Commons library paper on the regulation of fireworks

Only three premises in Gloucestershire are licensed for the year round sale of 
fireworks. An additional licence is required for the sale of fireworks from these 
premises. The remainder of premises in Gloucestershire are only permitted to sell 
fireworks during the following prescribed periods.

 15 October to 10 November 
 26 to 31 December
 3 days before Diwali and Chinese New Year

As Weights and Measures Authority for Gloucestershire, Trading Standards has a 
statutory duty to carry market surveillance and enforcement activities in relation to 
the storage and sale of fireworks. Trading Standards is also the licencing authority. 
Trading Standards discharge this duty through 3 trained officers. The officers are 
specifically appointed to act on behalf of the Health and Safety Executive in respect 
of the Explosives Act 1875 S 30 & S74 and Explosives Regulations 2014.

Named individuals require licencing permits to store explosives in the form of 
fireworks. Pre-licence checks ensure the named individuals are eligible to store 
fireworks and that storage areas are clearly defined and fit for purpose. Inspections 
are carried out on all licenced premises. 

Retail outlets are inspected during the period immediately before 5 November, 
(traditionally the busiest period of sales). In addition, officers respond to intelligence 
received on sales being carried out during any of the other permitted sales periods. 

Page 11

https://researchbriefings.files.parliament.uk/documents/SN05704/SN05704.pdf


Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 12 -

Larger wholesale premises are inspected throughout the year, (outside the busy 
period). Officers from Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service (GFRS) attend 
these inspections due to the larger quantities of stored fireworks.

Retail inspections ensure fireworks are safely displayed, only sold during the 
permitted periods and comply with age related sale safeguards. Inspections 
regulate what type of fireworks and ensure point of sale display arrangements 
comply with licencing conditions.

Officers monitor social media channels for evidence of unlicensed storage or sale of 
fireworks. Trading Standards use social media, (in conjunction with GFRS), to 
highlight the dangers of fireworks and to advise people to buy from reputable 
retailers, not via social media.

Post inspection, the person, (licensee), demonstrating non-compliance in relation to 
the sale and storage of fireworks receives written notification of the issues found 
and a reminder of their obligations under the relevant legislation. Where a retailer 
has a primary authority partnership agreement, feedback is provided via the host 
local authority.

Overall, the required level of compliance was acceptable. Recently, however, there 
had been a slight increase in non-compliances. Most non-compliances are minor 
and are usually dealt with at the time of the inspection. Plans were underway to 
consider how best to regulate/address non-compliances. 

Summarising the financial position of the team, members were informed that the 
Trading Standards budget for 2022/23 had been set at £847,700, with an additional 
£60,000 income anticipated from grant funding and income generation activities.

Members noted concerns about recruitment and training, where it was hoped the 
recruitment of additional team members and trainee officers would support the 
expanding role of the team and the repercussions of new legislation, including 
legislation relating to food safety. Essential software used to support the work of the 
team would need to be replaced in the next 5 years. 

Responding to questions, the Head of Regulatory Services and Consumer 
Protection, accepted that not everyone had access to social media and thanked 
members for their offer to assist in communicating important messages relating to 
the safety of fireworks. 

Cllr Terry Hale reiterated ongoing concerns about the condition of free roaming 
sheep in parts of the Forest of Dean District and expressed his disappointment at 
being advised that the issue was not the specific responsibility of the Trading 
Standards Team. The Head of Regulatory Services and Consumer Protection noted 
Cllr Hale’s comments and suggested he provide details of any specific issues he 
was aware of for the team to consider. 

Since the committee meeting, Cllr Dave Norman, (as Cabinet Portfolio Holder for 
Trading Standards), has suggested Cllr Hale arrange a meeting with the required 

Page 12



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 13 -

stakeholders/attendees, including Cllr Norman and Trading Standards to meet at a 
location in the Forest of Dean District to discuss specific issues and concerns. 
Invitations to be sent to the District Council, Police, Commoner’s Association, 
Forest England, (land and registered graziers), and to the Forest of Dean Sheep 
Liaison Group.  

Responding to questions on the other areas of work undertaken by GFRS and 
within the remit of the committee, the Assistant Chief Fire Officer confirmed that 
work was continuing with the Civil Protection Team and Local Resilience Forum, (a 
multi-agency partnership made up of representatives from local public services). 
The work of the CPT and LRF is to plan and prepare for localised incidents and 
major emergencies. Members noted the extent of the work undertaken by the Civil 
Protection Team and acknowledged concerns about the challenges of being a small 
team. To support the work of the team going forward, the council is currently 
recruiting 2 fixed term officers. 

The Coroners Service continued to be busy. It was noted that the number of 
referrals received and the complexity of deaths was higher than normally expected 
at this time of year, resulting in increased demand for post mortem examinations. 
The team was commended for its work in responding to the additional work, in 
addition to having to manage the repercussions of Covid-19 on staff resources.

The Assistant Chief Fire Office supported the need to raise the awareness of these 
small teams and welcomed the offer from members to assist in promoting the work 
of the CPT and Coroners Service 

The report was noted.

7. PUBLIC HEALTH REPORT 

The committee received an update from the Executive Director of Adult Social Care 
and Public Health, (Gloucestershire County Council), on matters relating to public 
health. To view the full report, please refer to the link here.

The Executive Director explained that, in recent weeks, there had been in a 
significant reduction in the number of Covid-19 cases across the county. The 
number of cases/data included in the daily OFFSEN - Summary of COVID-19 
Cases in Gloucestershire updates were no longer available and the daily briefings 
provided to members had been discontinued. 

The committee noted the progress of the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 
(JSNA), the assessment by local authorities and NHS Clinical Commissioning 
Groups to consider the health, care and wellbeing needs of the local community. 
Since the development of the JSNA Plan in 2018/19, several issues have impacted 
on progress, including changes to Adult Social Care Reform and the move to an 
Integrated Care System (ICS) and Integrated Care Board (ICB) for Gloucestershire. 
The committee will continue to receive regular updates on both of these influential 
considerations impacting on the JSNA. 

Page 13



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 14 -

In June 2020, the government distributed £300 million to local authorities to action 
the development of their Local Outbreak Management Plans, known as the Contain 
Outbreak Management Fund (COMF).  In response to government guidance, funds 
were used to provide community-based support to the most vulnerable people in 
our communities and to those most disproportionately impacted by the pandemic.  

The basis for the Gloucestershire response and subsequent spend was to: -  

1) Focus on vulnerable communities and redressing entrenched health 
inequalities. Working to build the resilience within communities across 
Gloucestershire; 

2) Focus on prevention and the wider implications of Covid; 
3) Focus on building sustainability to future proof initiatives and deliver lasting 

impact
 
The following key messages were highlighted by the report: - 

1) The voluntary and community sector is a vital and valued partner in the 
prevention of the spread of Covid19 in local communities, and in  supporting 
vulnerable people and those at highest risk.

2) The County Council continues to work collaboratively with the voluntary and 
community sector (VCS) to strengthen connections and invest in the areas 
where there are gaps or increasing demand.

3) It is essential to invest in our communities to create the conditions for 
individuals and communities to have opportunities to better take care of their 
wellbeing and health.

4) The voluntary and community sector has maintained support to the cohorts 
who have increased their vulnerability as a result of the pandemic due to 
isolation, loss of income due to furlough or redundancy, deteriorating mental 
health and wellbeing and digital exclusion.

Responding to questions on the allocation of funding, it was confirmed that the 
council was committed to the distribution of funds to the areas in most need, and as 
quickly as possible. This included funding for the voluntary and community sector. It 
was agreed that the outcomes of the additional funding should be reported back to 
the committee at regular intervals. Government grants are subject to specific 
conditions. Any un-spent, (declined), funding is returned to the government. 

The report was noted.

8. ADULT SOCIAL CARE REPORT 

The committee received an update from the Executive Director of Adult Social Care 
and Public Health on matters relating to Adult Social Care affecting 
Gloucestershire.

It was confirmed that the consultation on the proposed closure of four care homes 
within the Gloucestershire Care Partnership had commenced on 8 April 2022. 

Page 14



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 15 -

For details of the decision making process on the proposed closures, please open 
the link here. 

Following publication of the cabinet decision report in March 2022, (seeking 
approval to go out to public consultation), GCC staff had met with the staff and 
residents of the care homes to advise on the contents of the report and on the 
consultation process. Supported by staff from the Order of St Johns Charitable 
Trust, GCC staff had subsequently held regular consultation sessions with care 
home staff and residents, with more sessions planned. The final decision on the 
closures would be dependent on the outcomes of the consultation, for which an 
interim report would be presented to the committee. 

Members questioned the future of the care homes, (should the decision to close be 
approved), with a request that the properties should be used to benefit local 
communities in some way and not go into disrepair. 

Outlining key changes in the performance and delivery of the urgent and 
emergency care system for Gloucestershire, members were advised that, in 
November 2021, the Care Quality Commission had undertook a pilot review of the 
Gloucestershire urgent care and emergency care system. The review involved the 
inspection of NHS trusts but no inspection of the GCC Adult Social Care Service or 
the independent adult social care sector. 

The report from the review featured the following statement: -   

There was also capacity reported in care homes across Gloucestershire which 
could also be used to support patients to leave hospital in a timely way. The local 
authority should be closely involved with all decision-making due to its extensive 
experience in admission avoidance and community-based pathways.

It was explained that the capacity in Gloucestershire care homes and the potential 
use to support hospital discharge had not been discussed directly with the GCC 
Adult Social Care team. As such, there had been no opportunity to provide any 
context to the above statement, by the County Council. Spare capacity in the 
county’s care homes formed part of the rationale for the consultation on the 
proposed closures of the four GCC owned care homes. It was explained that, not all 
those waiting to leave hospital required a care home bed and not all empty care 
home beds were available for use. 

Members were reassured that Adult Social Care and the wider County Council 
continued to work closely with colleagues in the Integrated Care System, and 
remained committed to supporting, not only the timely discharge of patients from 
hospital, but also efforts to allow residents remain as independent as possible, and 
in their own homes, for as long as possible.

The report was noted. 

Page 15

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s83123/Market%20Strategy%20Cabinet%20Report%20June%202022%20Fin.pdf


Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 16 -

9. WORK PLAN 

The meetings of future meetings were noted: -  

5 July 2022
6 September 2022
15 November 2022

Items suggested for consideration at future meetings included: - 

New Library Strategy – 5 July 2022
Civil Protection Team Presentation – 5 July 2022
Outcomes of Care Home Consultation (Cabinet Report – June 2022)
Adult Social Care Reform – Ongoing 
Update on Motion 890 (Domestic Abuse) – May 2023

CHAIRPERSON

Meeting concluded at 12.45pm 

Page 16



GLOUCESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 

Cabinet Panel Report 

Report Title: Consultation on the proposed Draft Library Strategy

Reporting to: Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny Committee 

Date: 5 July 2022

Author/ 
Presenting 
Officer: 

Jane Everiss – Head of Library & Registration Services

Purpose of the 
report: To present a report on the Draft Library Strategy 2023-2028 

Background 
documents:

Decision - Decision on the future Library Strategy for 
Gloucestershire

Draft Library Strategy 2023-2028

Summary: The County Council, as a library authority, has a statutory duty 
to provide a comprehensive and efficient library service for all 
persons wishing to make use of it.  This strategy will replace the 
current Library Strategy which was adopted in 2012 and is now 
extremely outdated.

As a County Council policy document it is important that 
residents, students and workers views are sought to ensure that 
the 5 year strategy meets the needs of those people wishing to 
use the library service.

It better reflects Gloucestershire’s modern, vibrant library service 
and outlines the services offered beyond the core reading offer.

Outcomes:   The committee to note the report and make comment on the 
proposed strategy. The committee may also wish to submit a 
statement as part of the public consultation process. 

Page 17

Agenda Item 4

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=264
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=264


                                                                                                                                                             

1. Background

1.1.  Under the provisions of the Public Libraries and Museums Act 1964 (PLMA), 
the Council, as a library authority, has a statutory duty to provide a 
comprehensive and efficient library service for all persons wishing to make 
use of it.

1.2.  On 5th January 2012, Cabinet approved the current library strategy 
“Developing a new strategy for library services in Gloucestershire”.  This 
strategy has been in place since that time and no longer represents the future 
vision and ambition for libraries within Gloucestershire.

1.3.  The new strategy outlines the direction and ambitions for Gloucestershire 
Library service and is a far more up to date representation of the Council’s 
vision for the library services it provides to Gloucestershire residents, 
students, and workers.

1.4.The draft strategy incorporates the following:
 A new vision for Gloucestershire library services
 The current provision of library and wider services
 The aims and ambitions of the library service between 2023 and 2028
 A clear outline of the service’s core offer

1.5Views from residents are sought to ensure the strategy for 2023-2028 meets 
their needs.  A 12-week public consultation is being undertaken between July 
and September 2022.  This will cover the busy period for libraries during their 
2022 Summer Reading Challenge.  The theme for this years Summer 
Reading Challenge is “Gadgeteers” which links well with the new Innovation 
labs and the libraries Greener Together climate & sustainability programme.

2. Current position

2.1.  The existing strategy for Gloucestershire Libraries dates back to 2012 and 
does not reflect the modern library services libraries offer to their 
communities.

2.2.  Plans to draft a new library strategy were in place in 2020 with four staff 
engagement sessions taking place in January and February 2020.  The 
drafting of the new strategy was put on hold due to the COVID 19 pandemic 
but following three staff engagement sessions held early in 2022, an updated 
strategy has now been drafted for wider consultation.

3. New Library Strategy

3.1.  The draft strategy includes a new and updated vision for Gloucestershire 
library services; outlines the current provision within libraries, the aims, and 
ambitions for the service for the next 5 years (2023-2028) and provides a 
clear outline of what the library’s core offer is.

3.2.Additionally, the strategy outlines how the library service supports the County 
Councils Strategy : Building Back Better in Gloucestershire.  Specifically the 

Page 18



important role libraries play in providing services to assist the community to 
access employment, skills and economic activity.

3.3 The library strategy is hinged around five c’s

 Core – defining and enhancing our core service
 Climate – how libraries are responding to the Climate emergency
 Community – ensuring libraries continue to meet the needs of their local 

communities
 Connecting people – through digital and ICT, connecting people with the 

services they need at any stage of their lives, connecting people with 
information and connecting people with each other to reduce social 
isolation. 

 Creativity – using creativity to enhance people’s lives.

3.3.Each section outlines what libraries are currently offering and an ambition for 
the next five years.  We are particularly keen to understand if these ambitions 
meet the needs of our local communities.

4. Outcomes 

4.1.  The committee to note the report and make comment on the proposed 
strategy.

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



Gloucestershire 
Libraries 
Strategy 
2023 - 2028
Jane Everiss, Head of Library & Registration Service 

P
age 21



Libraries

Community Libraries 

Members of Staff  

31
8

179

Items of e-Stock Loaned 
Items of Stock Issued 

Items of Library Stock Available 

1,860,457

561,123
193,479 

Library visits1,992,468

Children's Learning 
Activities & Events 3,912
Adult Learning 
Activities & Events2,009

Over 12,000 hours 
of Volunteer Support 

FREE WiFi in 
Every Library 

 
Virtual Visits  180,548

An Innovation Lab 
in Coleford 

Public Computers 

Hours of Public Use

261
161,844

1 April 2019 – 31 March 2020

P
age 22



Gloucestershire Libraries are welcoming, inclusive,
innovative, and inspiring.

 
Vibrant safe spaces (places) at the heart of our diverse

communities, they encourage connections and creativity,
providing equality of access to reading, culture,
technology, trusted information, and learning

opportunities.
  

Working with and for their communities, Gloucestershire
Libraries will continue to adapt and respond to their

changing needs, championing sustainability and
promoting health & wellbeing.

  

VI
SI

O
N

P
age 23



Building Back Better
in Gloucestershire

P
age 24



GETTING OUR OWN HOUSE IN ORDER
 

ICT | Equalities, Diversity and Inclusion | Maximising the use of our estate
 
 

TACKLING CLIMATE CHANGE
 
 

SUSTAINABLE GROWTH AND LEVELLING UP OUR COMMUNITIES
 
 

TRANSFORMING CHILDREN’S AND ADULT SOCIAL CARE
 
 

IMPROVING CUSTOMER EXPERIENCEH
IG

H
LI

G
H

TS

P
age 25



THE FIVE C'S

CORE CLIMATE COMMUNITY CONNECT CREATIVITY

P
age 26



GREENER TOGETHER 

HEALTH & 
WELLBEING 

DIGITAL & 
INNOVATION

CHILDREN & 
FAMILIES 

READING & 
LITERACY WORKFORCE & 

VOLUNTEERS

EQUALITY & 
DIVERSITY

CREATIVITY

BUSINESS 
DEVELOPMENT 

KEY AIMS AND OBJECTIVES 

P
age 27



CO
RE

 O
FF

ER
CORE Free access to reading through physical and electronic book stock.

 
Access to information through the network of Gloucestershire

Libraries, the Virtual Reference Library (VRL) and Ask Us.
 

Free access to books that support mental and physical health and
wellbeing.

 
Provide home delivery services to housebound residents.

 
Providing welcoming, accessible, inclusive, safe spaces for all.

 
Provide access to the internet, printing and Wi-Fi through our

network of public access PCs.
 

Support people to build digital skills and confidence.

P
age 28



H
IG

H
LI

G
H

TS
CORE 

Equip staff and volunteers with the skills to deliver a progressive
service and encourage development at all levels.

 
Commitment to investing further skills and training opportunities
through work experience, apprenticeships, and volunteering.

 
Further develop and expand customer self-service options, enabling

easier and extended access to library services.
 

Work with Adult Education to expand access to basic reading and
other training opportunities.

 
Become more inclusive and better reflect the equality and diversity
of our communities through our book stock, accessible events, and

recruitment of staff and volunteers.
 

Ensure libraries physical and digital services are fully accessible to all,
including use of digital platforms such as 360-degree virtual tours.

 
Develop a strong marketing strategy that promotes the relevance of

libraries and encourages greater use.

P
age 29



Explore more sustainable travel options.
 

Explore the provision of free water re-fill points in libraries.
 

Explore libraries offering local recycling points for residents.
 

Review policies and procedures.
 

Review and reduce the carbon footprint of our library van
deliveries.

 
Work with property colleagues to ensure the environmental

impact of future library refurbishments.
 

Explore and develop a programme of environmental events.
 

Explore the provision of a Library of Things. 
 

Partner with local community groups to enhance and expand
the use of the outdoor spaces.H

IG
H

LI
G

H
TS

CLIMATE

P
age 30



Explore how the pop up library programme can reach people who do
not use libraries, through increased use of local venues. 

 
Explore targeted expansion of the community library access points

where people cannot access a library building. 
 

Co-create library services which reach the heart of communities and
engage with new audiences. 

 
Create a programme of library refurbishments to ensure libraries align

with community needs and to provide a modern accessible library
service. 

 
Advocate for public libraries role in the regeneration of high streets

and explore further relocation opportunities that will allow easier access
to library services.

 
Set up a youth advisory board to ensure young people are able to

influence how the services can meet the needs of customers. 
 H

IG
H
LI
G
H
TS

COMMUNITY

P
age 31



Connecting people with skills and opportunities by
partnering with Adult Education and Gloucestershire

Employment and Skills Hub.
 

Continue a programme of modernisation introducing new
digital services such as Wi-Fi printing and improving digital

access to library buildings. 
 

Develop partnerships which support more resilient, fairer
and healthier communities.

 
Introduce an Ask a Librarian service.

 
Explore Human Lending Libraries.

H
IG
H
LI
G
H
TS

CONNECT

P
age 32



Develop and deliver a programme of touring events to library sites.
 

Expand and further develop creative writing workshops and activities. 
 

Create a skills camp to develop talent within the library team and wider
community. 

 
Further promote Gloucestershire libraries as spaces to trial local creative

talent, including create businesses. 
 

Develop creative and flexible use of library buildings when closed to the
public to offer cultural activity.

 
Using the network of libraries to deliver the Arts Award. 

 
Reflect the rich and diverse communities in library programming to make

events accessible to all. 
 

Expand and develop social prescribing.
 

H
IG
H
LI
G
H
TS

CREATIVITY

P
age 33



I use my library daily, lovely friendly staff and a great
selection of books. I don't know what I'd do without it!  

Library Customer 2021 

P
age 34



1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Trading Standards 

Smoking products – tobacco, cigarettes and vapes. 

Tobacco and cigarettes 

1. In Gloucestershire the main identified supply of illegal tobacco is through shops, 

but it is also known to occur via social media and through informal means where 

individuals come together 

 

2. Illegal products fall into 3 categories –  

 Counterfeit which are illegal copies of well-known brands without the 

knowledge or permission of the original trademark or copyright holder 

 Smuggled which are genuine product made for sale in the UK or 

elsewhere smuggled into the UK for sale to avoid duty 

 Illicit white which have no genuine market in the UK but are made 

specifically for illegal sale. 

 

3. Gloucestershire County Council (GCC), as the local weights and measures 

authority, has a statutory duty to enforce labelling and intellectual property 

legislation relevant to the sale of illegal tobacco.  That statutory function is 

delivered by Trading Standards. A 

 

 

A. Legislation regulating supply of tobacco and cigarettes 

 The Standardised Packaging of Tobacco products Regulations 2015 

 Tobacco and Related Products Regulations 2016 

 Consumer protection Act 1987 

 Trademarks Act 2014 

 Copyright Designs and Patents Act 1988 

 Children and Families Act 2014 

 

Title 
Chief Fire Officer Report – Adult and Social Care and 
Communities Scrutiny Committee 

Chief Fire Officer 
Suite of Services 

Trading Standards, Civil Protection and Coroners Services 

Date Tuesday 5th July 2022 10am to 1.00pm 

Purpose of 
Report 

To provide a strategic update on issues and key areas of 
service provision, opportunities and challenges 

Page 35

Agenda Item 5



2 
 

 

 

 

 

 

4. Under this legislation GCC has the power to seize illegal product and prosecute 

those responsible for its supply.  Whilst we have had some good results using 

these tools, see point 12 below, instituting legal proceedings takes time and it 

can often be difficult to identify the organisers of the illegal enterprises.  Sellers 

seem to be able to absorb the loss of product as an occupational hazard.  

 

5. Member are invited to learn more about the national tobacco strategy by 

reading The Khan Review: making smoking obsolete 

Enforcement recommendations include introduction of a licencing regime for 

tobacco sellers, the power to close down retailers selling illegal tobacco and 

incrementally increasing the minimum permitted age to purchase tobacco 

products until no one can buy them.  There are no set timescales for these 

recommendations.  Enforcement recommendations sit alongside 

recommendations to support Public Health and the NHS drive towards smoking 

cessation and the promotion of healthier choices. 

 

6. Since 2011 cigarettes for sale in the UK must be constructed with a safety 

feature called ‘reduced ignition propensity’ that is they should self-extinguish if 

not actively smoked rather than keep burning if placed in an ashtray or dropped.  

As well as concerns that counterfeit and cheap white products may not contain 

this safety feature, little is known about quality control on the contents of both. 

 

7. The shops known to sell illegal tobacco are generally not part of the local 

community, and the money spent on illegal tobacco and cigarettes is not 

recycled back into the areas it comes from.   

 

8. The retail supply of illegal tobacco is focused in areas of greater deprivation, 

specifically Barton Street and Southgate Street in Gloucester and Lower High 

Street in Cheltenham. 

 

9. Tobacco enforcement work is carried out alongside Police and HMRC where 

appropriate.  Officers are also supported by regional coordination including a 

small amount of government funding (£2664 in 2021/22) and access to one or 

two days use of tobacco detection dogs. 

 

10. Individuals responsible for operation of shops known to sell illegal tobacco are 

often distanced from the actual sales allowing others to risk detection.  There 

is evidence to suggest individuals are moved around the country to work in the 

shops. 

 

11. When inspecting shops suspected of selling illegal tobacco Trading Standards 

officers have encountered individuals working whose immigration status does 

not permit work in the UK.  Officers are also responsible for the discovery of 

Page 36

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-khan-review-making-smoking-obsolete


3 
 

illegal weapons and substantial quantities of drugs which have been passed 

over to the Police. 

 

12. Trading Standards has anecdotal evidence from legitimate shop keepers that 

when a shop selling illegal tobacco opens near them they experience significant 

loss of business not only in tobacco products but also in the incidental 

purchases of sweets, newspapers and groceries which often accompany 

tobacco purchases.  It is noticeable how certain areas, especially in 

Cheltenham and Gloucester, have changed over time and act as hubs for the 

sale of illegal tobacco to the apparent detriment of other businesses and local 

communities. 

 

13. The sale of illegal tobacco is recognised by HMRC as being responsible for 

£2.3 billion lost duty B.  Although this not a direct responsibility for the local 

authority, this is a significant figure which has an effect on overall taxation and 

therefore government spending, including spending on public services. 

 

14. Trading Standards does not have the capacity for a dedicated tobacco 

enforcement officer, but it is the main role of a senior officer supported as 

required by colleagues.  Collectively this amounts to approximately 0.75 FTE. 

 

15. Despite the limited resource available the following table shows the work of the 

service over the last 5 years.  

 

 Around 2018, the Service made an operational decision to prioritise 

disruption, working with other agencies to achieve alternate outcomes. 

 Seizure figures for 2019/20 2020/21 and 2021/22 reflect the suspension 

of routine enforcement activity in all areas as a direct consequence of 

Covid 19. 

 Prosecution figures represent cases which came to court in that year and 

not investigations begun in that year. 

 

B. HMRC estimate of lost duty obtained from HMRC measuring tax gaps 2021 edition – tax 
gap estimates for 2019 to 2020. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 37



4 
 

 Number 
of packs 
of 20 
cigarettes 
seized 

Number 
of 50g 
pouches 
of hand 
rolling 
tobacco 
seized 

Loss to 
sellers at 
street value 

Actual 
value if 
legitimate 

Value of 
duty 
evaded 

      

2018/19 12,153 
Incl. 6808 
counterfeit 

2388 
Incl. 317 
counterfeit 

£67,720 £155,800.17 £95,177.85 

2019/20 3042 
Incl. 699 
counterfeit 

202 
Incl. 186 
counterfeit 

£13,810.50 £31,083.38 £20,307.24 

2020/21 1857 
Incl. 995 
counterfeit 

211 
Incl. 59 
counterfeit 

£10,613 £20,728.73 £14,354.91 

2021/22 1232 
Incl. 453 
counterfeit 

231 
Incl. 140 
counterfeit 

£8,472 £15,572.48 £11,597.78 

2022/23  
year to 
date 

11,178 
Incl. 3133 
counterfeit 

1567 
Incl. 909 
counterfeit 

£71,620 £130,712.42 £101,491.92 

      

TOTALS 29, 462 4,599 £172,235.50 £353,897.18 £242,929.70 

 

Outcomes of enforcement work 

 2018/19 5 individuals prosecuted resulting in 8 weeks prison;28 weeks 

suspended sentence; 470 hours unpaid work community punishment; 

fines to the value of £2440; recovery of prosecution costs to the value of 

£5319.95 

 2019/20 10 individuals prosecuted resulting in 436 weeks prison; fines to 

the value of £8600; recovery of prosecution costs to the value of £6690 

 2020/21 7 individuals prosecuted resulting in 12 weeks suspended 

sentence; 120 hours unpaid work community punishment; 4 month curfew 

between 20:00 and 06:00; fines to the value of £800; recovery of 

prosecution costs to the value of £3283 and £53,567.34 recovered using 

proceeds of crime legislation  

 2021/22 1 individual prosecuted and issued a conditional discharge.  

Suspension of the alcohol licence of a seller for 28 days based on 

Trading Standards evidence of illegal tobacco sales. 

 Based on Trading Standards evidence of illegal tobacco sales the 

Police obtained through Magistrates 3 month closure notice in respect 

of : 

 Quick Stop, Lydney in April 2021 

 Erbil, Gloucester in June 2019 

 Europe Booze, Gloucester in June 2019 

 Asian and European, Gloucester in November 2018 
 

2 of those businesses have remained permanently closed indicating they 

were only profitable because of their trade in illegal tobacco. 

Page 38



5 
 

 Trading Standards action has resulted in the closure of a further 3 

businesses as landlords have taken responsibility for activities carried 

out by their tenants. 

 

16. Cigarettes and tobacco are both also subject to age restrictions on sale.  It is 

illegal to sell either to a young person under the age of 18, likewise it is illegal 

for an adult to purchase smoking products for a young person under the age of 

18. 

 

17. Trading Standards receive very little intelligence regarding underage sales but 

do support businesses that wish to comply.  Trading Standards has obtained 

free of charge access for any business selling age related products to a scheme 

called ‘No Proof of Age, No sale’. 

 

Vapes and e-cigarettes 

 

18. Gloucestershire County Council (GCC), as the local weights and measures 

authority, has a statutory duty to enforce labelling and intellectual property 

legislation relevant to the sale of nicotine inhaling products.  That statutory 

function is delivered by Trading. C 
 

19. Switching to the use of vapes and e-cigarettes is seen as a smoking cessation 

tool. Vapers are not exposed to the same chemicals used in cigarette 

manufacture and levels of nicotine inhaled can be controlled and reduced as 

required. 

 

20. Reports around illegal vaping material are relatively new to Trading Standards 

and seem to coincide with a rise in popularity of disposable vapes and e-

cigarettes. 

 

21. Officers are supported by regional coordination and have participated in a 

project to reach out to secondary schools for intelligence around school children 

purchasing and using vapes.  It is now believed vape usage extends to children 

in years 9 and 10 so this exercise will be repeated with primary schools. 

 

C. Legislation regulating supply of nicotine inhaling products  

 Tobacco and Related Products Regulations 2016 

 The Nicotine Inhaling Products (Age of Sale and Proxy Purchasing) Regulations 
2015 

 Children and Families Act 2014 

 Consumer protection Act 1987 

 Food Imitations (Safety) Regulations 1989 

 

 

 

 

Page 39



6 
 

 

 

 

 

22. Enforcement has focussed on disposable e-cigarettes which are required to : 

 

 be licensed with the Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory 

Authority; 

 must have a tank size not exceeding 2ml (approximately 600 puffs); 

 must be clearly labelled with ingredients, nicotine content and delivery 

per dose and a UK supplier name and address; 

 must contain clear prominent health warnings and warnings to keep out 

of reach of children; and 

 They must not be manufactured or packaged in any way such that a 

person, in particular a child, is likely to confuse them with food and place 

them in their mouths. 

 

23.  Since September 2021 Officers have seized 3818 illegal e-cigarettes, the 

majority of which contained liquid in excess of 2ml. 

 

Conclusion 

24. Trading Standards has a duty to enforce Tobacco and Related Products Regs 

which covers tobacco and electronic cigarettes. We aim to protect consumers 

but at the same time, wish to protect and educate traders to ensure they only 

buy compliant vapes as they are losing thousands of pounds by buying illegal 

ones. 

 

Trading Standards finance, performance and risk 

 

25. The service budget remains on target at this early stage in the year.  APR 
forms are being prepared to recruit into trainee posts to continue with office 
succession as far as existing budgets allow. 

 

26. MTFS bids preparation continues in relation to bids for software update and 
recruitment to address an aging workforce and succession planning. 

 

27. Completion of team PDRs is advanced  

 

28. There is a continued risk associated with importation of pets by individuals 
settled in the UK from Ukraine.  Although DEFRA are the lead agency for 
testing and quarantine measures any breaches are enforced by the local 
authority.  While levels of compliance are expected to be high, where 
enforcement is required, the local authority may face considerable costs. 

 

Page 40



7 
 

Civil Protection Team 

 

29 Operational response Incidents supported May – June 2022 (CPT Duty Officer on call 

24/7)  

o Fire – Structural engineer required 
o Fire involving asbestos – environmental health officer required   
o Falling debris – Structural engineer / building control required 
o Support for evacuated person(s) due to garage fire involving acetylene 
o Potential activation of Op link due to large fuel spillage 
o House fire – Displaced persons required temporary accommodation x2 
o No access to property – Displaced family required temporary 

accommodation  

 

Training & Exercise  

 

30 Exercise Lemur - The risk of a total failure of the national electricity transmission 

system (NETS), which would cause a national power outage (NPO), is 

assessed as a RED risk in the National Security Risk Assessment (very high 

impact, moderate likelihood). Exercise Lemur was a scenario based discussion 

exercise across partners from the Local Resilience Forum to assess current 

contingency plans. CPT supported the facilitation of the exercise and the post-

exercise report for LRF Exec board consideration. 

 

 

31 JESIP Multi-agency Operational & Tactical response course(s) – Support to 

design & deliver courses to outline the role of the Local Authority in response. 

 

 

32 BCM exercise(s) – Scenario based exercises written and delivered to (1)Public 

Health (2) Traded Services Education   

 

Business Continuity Management (BCM) – mid-June 2022 update 
 

33 The programme of business continuity management (BCM) work approved by 
CLT in Q2 2020-21 is continuing.  As previously reported, an extension of the 
programme until December 2022 has been agreed by CLT which reflects the 
significant operational demands across many services currently. 
 
 

34 Overall position for GCC (incl. GFRS):- 
 

Page 41



8 
 

 

 

      
 +2% improvement in business impact analyses (BIAs) up-to-date since the last 

report 
(April 2022) 

 +6% improvement in business continuity plans (BCPs) up-to-date since the last 
report (April 2022) 

 
35 A facilitated BIA session is the precursor to developing a fit-for-purpose BCP, 

ensuring that planning is undertaken based on consistently determined recovery 
priorities and timescales – completing a BIA session is therefore key to progress.  
Although there has been a small improvement in the number of up-to-date BIAs 
(and BCPs), some teams and services have still yet to engage in terms of booking-
in BIA sessions with the Civil Protection Team.  Also, a number of teams / services 
have started the process but have not completed it e.g. some BIAs started in the 
2021 calendar year are still awaited, with some being 11 or 12 months overdue.  It 
is intended there will be a discussion on how to support plan owners who have not 
yet had the opportunity to engage with the BCM process, this discussion will take 
place at the July 2022 meeting of the corporate BCM Assurance Board.     

 

Service Level Agreements (SLA’s) 

36 CPT continue to provide emergency management support via SLA’s for 5 district 

councils. Work streams are as per individual district work plans, agreed work plans 

and Gloucestershire Prevent Partnership Board (GPPB). Below is some of the key 

work streams delivered May – June 22 

Cheltenham BC  

 Support development of Welfare & Coordination Team (Identifying additional 

rest centre locations / reviewing emergency centre arrangements) 

 Trialling reservoir flood impact assessment tool – properties at risk of flooding 

Cotswold DC / Forest of Dean DC 
 

 Up-to-date 

 Requires updating 

 No BIA / BCP 

Page 42



9 
 

 Writing Ops Order for Royal International Air Tattoo preparations 

 Exercises planning (Emergency Management Framework and Business 
Continuity) 

 Support development of Emergency Response teams (Coordination and Rest 
Centre teams)  

 Finalising Rest Centre handbooks 

 Drafting Coordination Team handbook 

 Pulling together information for the Coordination Team handbook 
 

Gloucester City  

 Support with business continuity management (Business Impact Analysis 
sessions) 

 GL1 Rest Centre review 

 Training developed for new Gold Officers (to be delivered late June) 
 

Tewkesbury BC 

 Rest center equipment review 

 Planning rest center exercise to be delivered 30.6.22 
 

GPPB 

 Continue to provide support for the board as required (arrange meetings, 

distribution of paperwork, CONTEST board highlight report) 

 

37  Response Plans 

 

Animal Disease – Final version published, validation exercise being planned for 

September 2022 (in consultation with trading standards, APHA) 

 

Water distribution – Plan revision commenced in consultation with water 

companies & district councils  

 

Emergency Mortuary - Plan revision commenced in consultation with the Coroners 

service 

Challenges / Concerns 

38 The Civil Protection Team is a small team (6 officers) with much of the staff’s time 

being allocated to Service Level Agreement commitments. With this in mind it is 

challenging to progress work steams for GCC and LRF as much as we would like. 

Currently there is 1 team member leading the BCM project for GCC and CPT team 

leader, leading the Emergency Management project for GCC alongside other 

commitments. Most of the time for the other team members is committed to SLA 

work steams. A new member of staff has recently joined the team (May 22) and is 

being trained up to manage some of the work streams (this is a fixed term contract).  

 

39 To support other members of the team with some of the key GCC projects we are 

in the process of recruiting x3 fixed term officers (x2 to support CPT with plan 

Page 43



10 
 

revisions and x1 to support GCC Public health with plan revisions). Due to lack of 

suitable candidates during the first round of recruitment in May, the positions are 

being re-advertised, with more targeted advertising. At the time of writing, the 

adverts are still live with 1 week until closing but to date the response from 

applicants has been poor. 

Report Theme  

Royal International Air Tattoo (RIAT) 2022 15 – 17 July 

40 The Royal International Air Tattoo (RIAT) takes place annually in July at RAF 
Fairford, Gloucestershire. RIAT is the biggest military air show in the world, with the 
event consisting of hundreds of aircraft from numerous nations and 2 miles of static 
displays, ground exhibits and activities. Certainly, it is the largest event for 
Gloucestershire with over 170,000 visitors expected to attend in total. 
 

41 The Royal Air Force Charitable Trust Enterprises (RAFCTE) stages RIAT. The 
Royal Air Force (RAF) and United States Air Force (USAF) in Europe actively 
support the event.  Support to RIAT is also provided by the Emergency Services, 
Local Authorities and a significant number of volunteers.  

 

42 RIAT 2022 will take place on 15th-17th July and consist of a preview day (Friday 
15th) with limited tickets on sale and a 4 hour flying display and aircraft arrivals and 
departures and a partial traffic management plan in place. Followed by two full flying 
days on Saturday 16th and Sunday 17th. 

 

43 Safety is the number one priority for RIAT. RAFCTE are committed to ensuring that, 
so far as is reasonably practical, all activities associated with the staging of RIAT 
2022 are carried out in a manner that safeguards the health, safety and welfare of 
members of the public, participants, staff, volunteers and contractors who may be 
affected by these activities.  RIAT complies with all Military Aviation Authority (MAA) 
regulations and in a number of areas exceeds these requirements. Following the 
2015 Shoreham Air show disaster, a full, externally scrutinised review of all RIAT 
air display procedures took place. Robust security measures will also be in place. 

 

44 However, as with any major event, it is necessary to plan and train for responding 
to an emergency potentially occurring at RIAT. Various multi-agency emergency 
plan testing and training takes place prior to RIAT.  

 

45 Cotswold District Council (now part of Publica), within whose area RAF Fairford is 
located, works in partnership with Gloucestershire County Council Civil Protection 
Team (CPT) to lead the Local Authority support for RIAT. The Local Authority 
assistance to RIAT, for which grateful thanks is due to all those involved, includes: 

 
- Cotswold/Forest of Dean District Council Emergency Response Teams 
- Support from all other District Councils within Gloucestershire 
- Gloucestershire County Council Emergency Response Teams 
- Gloucestershire County Council Public Health Team 
- Gloucestershire County Council Coroner’s Office 
- Gloucestershire County Council Communications Team 
- Gloucestershire Emergency Support Team (GEST) volunteers 
- Mutual aid support from neighbouring Local Authorities (Oxfordshire County 

Council, Swindon Borough Council and Wiltshire Council) 

Page 44



11 
 

- Gloucestershire Radio Amateur Network (RAYNET) volunteers  
 

46 The Civil Protection team in conjunction with Gloucestershire Fire & Rescue Service 
(GFRS) write the operation Order for RIAT. The order details the Local Authority 
and Gloucestershire Fire & Rescue (GFRS) emergency response arrangements for 
the period during which RIAT 2022 is operational. 

 
47 A number of briefing sessions are delivered by the team to response staff on stand-

by and volunteers from Raynet & Gloucestershire Emergency Response Team 
(GEST). CPT members also maintain a presence at the on-site emergency control 
centre for the duration of the event.  

 

Finance  

48 The budget for the Civil Protection Team is set at £313k (£218k base plus £94k 

income from SLA’s. x4 staff members funded from base budget & x2 staff 

members funded via SLA income. 

 

 

Coroners 

49 The Coroner Service continues to be busy. Although the number of referrals to the 

service have dropped since the last report (as is usual for summer months), the 

number of cases awaiting inquest and requiring further investigations remains high. 

The service has also recently installed a court camera system which will help with 

the hearing of more inquests through remote means and give families and 

interested parties the option of dialling-in rather than attending in person. Both 

Coroner and Mortuary teams continue to work hard to process the service’s work 

and all planned and coped admirably during the long Easter weekend and, more 

recently, the long Jubilee Bank Holiday weekend.   

 

50 The budget for 2022/23 for the Coroner Service has been set at £1.2M. A general 

increase in referral rates, more complicated cases, the rising costs of consumables 

and ongoing negotiations regarding fees payable to pathologists suggest that this 

budget will not be sufficient to cover the service costs. To this end, the service is 

currently pursuing a MTFS bid to address the projected deficit. 

51 Following the recent Human Tissue Authority (HTA) inspection of mortuary 

services, the remedial action template has been completed by the Centre Manager 

and Senior APT and this has been accepted by the HTA. Only 6 shortfall areas 

were found (against 60 licensed standards inspected) and all remedial actions will 

be complete by mid-August 2022. The entire inspection process included: 

 

Review of governance documentation  

 

Page 45



12 
 

52 The inspection included a review of the establishment’s governance documentation 

relating to licensed activities. This included policies and procedural documents 

relating to licensed activities, records of servicing of equipment, ventilation reports, 

audits, risk assessments, staff appraisal minutes, temperature monitoring for the 

storage units, reported incidents and training records for mortuary staff.  

 

Visual inspection  

 

53 The inspection included a visual inspection of the mortuary body store, PM room, 

viewing room and tissue storage areas.  

 

Audit of records  

 

54 Audits were conducted for four bodies in refrigerated and frozen storage. 

Identification details on bodies were crosschecked against the information recorded 

in the mortuary register, the electronic mortuary data base and associated 

paperwork. No discrepancies were found.  

 

55 Audits of traceability were conducted for tissue blocks and slides for two PM cases, 

including audits of the consent documentation for the retention of these tissues. 

These were the only tissue blocks and slides stored in the mortuary and no 

discrepancies were found. 

  

  

  

 

 

Page 46



1

Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny Committee

Report from the Executive Director of Adult Social Care and Public Health

5 July 2022 – Public Health Update

1. Health Inequalities
2. Severe and Multiple Disadvantage in Gloucestershire
3. Ending Rough Sleeping Plan and Rough Sleeping Initiative (RSI5) Funding
4. The Gloucestershire Suicide Audit 
5. Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment Update
6. Oral Health

1. Health Inequalities 

Introduction and national context

Health inequalities are avoidable, unfair and systematic differences in health between different 
groups of people.  Health inequalities have persisted over the last decade and the COVID-19 
pandemic has shone a stark light of them. There is emerging evidence that the gap is widening 
further.

The term ‘health inequalities’ describes differences in the care that people receive and the 
opportunities they have to lead healthy lives. Therefore, health inequalities can relate to:

 health status e.g., healthy life expectancy
 access to care e.g., access to clinical appointments
 quality and experience of care e.g., patient satisfaction
 behavioural risks to health e.g., alcohol consumption
 ‘wider determinants of health’ (things that impact upon our health) e.g., quality of 

housing

Additionally, differences in health status/experience and the things that affect this can also be 
experienced by different groups or cohorts of people. Health inequalities are often considered 
across these four domains:

Page 47

Agenda Item 6



2

In 2010, Professor of Epidemiology, Sir Michael Marmot, published a ground-breaking report 
on health inequalities in Britain, Fair Society Health Lives1, which provided a framework for 
action across six priority objectives:

- Give every child the best start in life
- Enable children, young people and adults to maximise their capabilities and have 

control over their lives
- Create fair employment and good work for all
- Ensure a healthy standard of living for all
- Create and develop healthy sustainable places and communities
- Strengthen the role and impact of ill-health prevention.

In 2020, Marmot’s ’10 years on’ review found that improvements to life expectancy had stalled, 
that we are living more years in poor health (with attendant implications for health and social 
care) and that the ‘health gap’ has grown between wealthy and deprived areas. COVID-19 
and escalating costs of living are expected to further exacerbate these differences and it is 
Marmot’s original recommendations for ‘effective action to tackle the wider determinants of 
health alongside embedding ‘proportionate universalism*’ across services’, remain as relevant 
as they were over a decade ago. 

*Proportionate universalism is the ‘resourcing and delivering of universal services at a scale and intensity 
proportionate to the degree of need’.

What is happening in Gloucestershire?

Gloucestershire, on the surface, appears an affluent county. However, digging underneath the 
headline county position can reveal a different picture:

 A boy born today in the least deprived area in Gloucestershire can expect to live on 
average 8.7 years longer than a boy born in the most deprived area in 
Gloucestershire, and a girl 6.5 years longer.

 The unemployment rate in the most deprived decile is 6 times higher than in the least 
deprived decile.

There are a variety of initiatives underway to tackle health inequalities in our county, including 
grassroots, service and policy-led initiatives. However, if we are to have any real impact at 
population level, there also needs to be a paradigm shift in leadership and behaviours, with a 
commitment to do things differently.

In June 2021 the Gloucestershire Health Inequalities Panel (the ‘Panel’) was convened, to 
bring together a small group of public sector leads committed to system change to reduce 
health inequality. The Panel agreed to adopt an evidence-based ‘community-centred whole 
systems approach’ framework for action, which complements Marmot’s approach and 
describes in more detail how local ‘systems’ can be strengthened to produce transformational 
change. This approach recognises health inequalities as a ‘wicked issue’ for which there is no 
simple or single solution but requires a combination of interventions (for example, activities to 
support individuals into work; targeted health improvement activities; community building 
activity) and work to strengthen the cross-cutting ‘system enablers’, including how we use data 
and intelligence more effectively (including qualitative data and insights), how we engage more 
meaningfully with communities, and how we build a better awareness of health inequalities 
across the workforce and enable staff to better embed work on health inequalities in their day-
to-day practice.

11 Sir Michael Marmot (2010) ‘Fair Society, Healthy Lives’ https://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-
reports/fair-society-healthy-lives-the-marmot-review 

Page 48

https://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/fair-society-healthy-lives-the-marmot-review
https://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/fair-society-healthy-lives-the-marmot-review


3

An essential foundation for building this approach is to develop an understanding of how an 
issue is currently being addressed. The Panel has completed a series of activities designed 
to a produce a public sector system view on health inequalities including what is working well, 
key assets, gaps, and opportunities to strengthen the system. While some work to strengthen 
embed robust action on health inequalities is already underway (e.g. a Health Inequalities 
Toolkit to support quality improvement activities; a review of the Council’s approach to Equality 
Impact Assessment (EIA); a shared health inequalities dashboard), the wider 
recommendations emerging from this work will inform the future system-level health 
inequalities work programme.

The developing infrastructure of the Integrated Care System (ICS) within Gloucestershire also 
represents an opportunity to heighten the profile of health inequalities as well as providing an 
opportunity to challenge norms and ways of working. The Panel will be aligned to the emerging 
Integrated Care Board (ICB) and Integrated Care Partnership (ICP) agenda and will consider 
its membership and priorities in light of developments.

As well as the opportunities to address health inequalities through the new ICS structures, 
there are also a number of other system wide changes which provide a focus on addressing 
health inequalities. These include the Levelling Up agenda, external funding and support from 
The Big Lottery and The King’s Fund for the Healthier Communities Together programme and 
a coordinated approach to strengthening the role of anchor institutions locally. 

Integrated Care Partnerships (ICP)
Health and social care integration: joining up care for people, places and populations (DHSC, 
2022) recognises the need to draw on our experience of the pandemic to bridge the gaps 
between health and social care, between health outcomes in different places and within 
society that are holding us back. It aims to bring together the NHS and local government to 
jointly deliver for local communities. It acknowledges that the creation of Integrated Care 
Systems (ICSs) as a formal part of our health and care system is a critical opportunity to 
remove remaining barriers to integrated care and create the conditions for local partnerships 
to thrive.

The statutory ICS will include two equally important and complementary components: 

 A statutory ICS NHS Body – The Integrated Care Board (ICB) which will lead and 
oversee the planning and delivery of NHS services across the whole system, develop 
a capital plan for NHS providers, hold the budget for the system, and meet the system 
control target, maintaining appropriate governance and accountability 

 A statutory Health and Care Partnership or Integrated Care Partnership (ICP), 
bringing partners together to address the wider health, social care and public health 
needs of the population and the wider determinants of population health and wellbeing

ICP provides an opportunity to reduce health inequalities as it will be built on existing 
partnerships and collaboration and will be focused on addressing the wider determinants of 
health. It will be fundamental to the way in which an Integrated Care System pursues 
integration through partnership working, in a way that enables people to live healthier and 
more independent lives for longer. The ICP will have the status of a statutory committee and 
will have a central role in the planning and improvement of health and care, with a strong 
emphasis on taking a holistic and place-based view. 

The ICP provides the opportunity to address health challenges that the health and care system 
cannot address alone, especially those that require a longer timeframe to deliver, such as 
tackling health inequalities and the underlying social determinants that drive poor health 
outcomes. 

Page 49

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-and-social-care-integration-joining-up-care-for-people-places-and-populations/health-and-social-care-integration-joining-up-care-for-people-places-and-populations#leadership-accountability-and-finance


4

Healthier Communities Together

The King's Fund and The National Lottery Community Fund (TNLCF) are currently supporting 
partnership-working in Gloucestershire through the Healthier Communities Together (HCT) 
programme working with the voluntary and community sector, the NHS and Gloucestershire 
County Council to improve the health and wellbeing of local communities. The programme 
seeks to create conditions for new thinking and ways of working to tackle health inequalities.

This programme has provided grant funding for three years to build capacity and enable areas 
to invest in new approaches and new ways of working in partnership. In addition, it also 
provides bespoke support such as facilitating work across the local health system, providing 
evidence of how best to integrate care and support in a place, and challenging organisations 
to think differently. The King’s Fund will also distil learning from the areas taking part and share 
it more widely. In Gloucestershire the aim and vision are: 

Aim: Build greater levels of trust across the health and wellbeing system for a fairer and 
healthier Gloucestershire

Vision: An equal and expansive laboratory creating the conditions for curiosity, learning and 
experimentation in order to take a fresh approach to drive change and create systems that 
support a fairer and healthier Gloucestershire

This is not about producing simple solutions; indeed, we know simple solutions will not enable 
us to really effect change on reducing health inequalities. Instead, it is about understanding 
how the system could be better at addressing health inequalities and carefully plan how we 
can create the conditions for systems change.   HCT will deliver activities in four themes (figure 
1). The establishment of a “collaboratory” as a test bed for innovation will create a space and 
the conditions for curiosity, learning and experimentation to take a fresh approach to a 
particular ‘wicked issue’ and drive change. 

Figure 1: programme themes

Anchor institutions

Anchor institutions are large organisations that are unlikely to relocate and have a significant 
stake in their local area. They have sizeable assets that can be used to support their local 
community’s health and wellbeing and tackle health inequalities.2 Anchor institutions already 
influence the health and wellbeing of communities but they can have an even greater impact 

2 The King’s Fund (2021); Anchor Institutions and how they can affect people’s health 
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/anchor-institutions-and-peoples-health

Page 50

https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/anchor-institutions-and-peoples-health


5

on the wider factors that make people healthy by choosing to invest in and work with others 
locally and responsibly.3

In November 2021, The Director of Public Health annual report, Sources of Strength4, was 
published and looked at how we could secure Gloucestershire’s health and Wellbeing through 
an Anchor Institution approach. This made recommendations around five key areas in which 
anchor institutions can add value:

 Employment, including recruitment and workforce
 Procurement and commissioning
 Use of buildings and capital
 Environmental sustainability
 Partnership working with communities and other anchors

As a result, in February 2022 the Gloucestershire Anchor Institutions Task and Finish Group 
was established. The purpose of the group is to agree how to implement the public sector 
recommendations of the Director of Public Health annual report across the system in 
Gloucestershire. The group is committed to meeting monthly for six months. It will then review 
progress and set next steps.

Much of this work is already underway. The group have adapted a self-assessment framework 
which aims to help organisations to embed an anchor institution approach internally. In 
parallel, the group have undertaken a mapping exercise to determine how much anchor 
activity is already underway across the county. This provides a resource and a potential 
community of support to assist organisations in implementing similar actions. It has also been 
used to highlight areas of existing strengths, gaps, and opportunities. The information, along 
with input from community anchors, will be used to develop system-wide interventions where 
a joined-up, place-based approach can add value beyond actions of individual organisations.

Levelling Up Conference – May 2022 

In Autumn 2021, a motion was debated at Full Council that explored the County Council’s 
approach to tackling poverty and deprivation in Gloucestershire.  It was agreed that hosting a 
conference was a good way to better understand the needs in our communities. Cabinet 
requested a small working group be established to steer the development of the conference.

The working group considered the Gloucestershire Council Strategy – Building Back Better in 
Gloucestershire.  It articulates the vision for how we will work to achieve the aims of the 
Government’s Levelling Up Agenda.  It outlines an ambition to “work with communities across 
the county to: reduce inequalities, regenerate high streets, market towns and neighbourhoods; 
improve infrastructure, jobs, skills and education provision; and help residents to achieve their 
ambitions for the places they live”  

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/building-back-better-in-
gloucestershire/levelling-up-our-communities/

The stated aims are to: 

 Work with local partners to attract national Levelling Up Funding to regenerate our high 
streets, market towns and neighbourhoods;

 Listen to local communities about what they want to achieve and how;

3 Health Foundation (2019) Building healthier communities: the role of the NHS as an anchor 
institution
https://www.health.org.uk/sites/default/files/upload/publications/2019/I02_Building%20healthier%20co
mmunities_WEB.pdf 
4 Gloucestershire County Council (2021) Sources of Strength 
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2111500/dph-report-2021-sources-of-strength.pdf 

Page 51

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/building-back-better-in-gloucestershire/levelling-up-our-communities/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/building-back-better-in-gloucestershire/levelling-up-our-communities/
https://www.health.org.uk/sites/default/files/upload/publications/2019/I02_Building%20healthier%20communities_WEB.pdf
https://www.health.org.uk/sites/default/files/upload/publications/2019/I02_Building%20healthier%20communities_WEB.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2111500/dph-report-2021-sources-of-strength.pdf


6

 Work alongside neighbourhoods to develop plans that build on their strengths, as well 
as attracting local and national investment to help deliver them;

 Supporting local residents to develop new skills, careers and job opportunities;
 Link local people to jobs by providing sustainable transport solutions and reducing 

barriers to employment;
 Shape local community services to make sure they can adapt to the needs and 

aspirations of local residents;
 Working with local schools and academies to improve the quality of local education 

provision.

The conference was designed as a platform to launch this ambition and offer an opportunity 
to hear from our communities about what is working well and where the Council and its 
partners can work better to reduce inequalities.  

The Conference was co-created with Gloucester Hotspots.  The Hotspots Network brings 
together Gloucestershire’s leading urban and rural practitioners of social enterprise and 
community building.  Each Hotspots Network partner has a proven entrepreneurial and 
community building track record and trusting local relationships between citizens and partners. 
The Hotspots Network are

 G11 Hub
 Gloucester Community Building Collective
 Grace Network
 Fair shares community time banks
 gloucestershiregatewaytrust.org.uk/ 

The conference, held at Quayside House Gloucester was attended by 130 people in person 
and virtually.  There were representatives from across a range of voluntary sector and 
community groups and local public sector leaders.  Each community group presented a film 
showcasing the following themes – building trust, capacity building, community development 
plans, community wealth and social enterprise.  Most of the discussion took part in breakout 
groups, the content of which will be brought together to help shape the next steps for Levelling 
Up our communities. 

2. Severe and Multiple Disadvantage in Gloucestershire

There is and has been over the past few years a great deal of interest in how best to meet the 
needs of people who face severe and multiple disadvantage, and/or with multiple needs.  
Severe and Multiple Disadvantage (SMD) refers to people with three or more of the following:  

 Mental health issues, 
 Rough sleeping/homelessness, 
 Offending/criminal justice 
 Substance misuse
 Domestic abuse/sex working

SMD is also referred to as Multiple and Complex Needs. It can include other sources of 
disadvantage, for instance poor physical health, experience of sexual violence, and for Black, 
Asian, and Minority Ethnic (BAME) people, community isolation. Having 'complex needs' or 
'facing multiple disadvantage' means living with several overlapping issues; often one need 
creates another or makes other needs worse. 

Page 52

https://track.vuelio.uk.com/z.z?l=aHR0cHM6Ly93d3cuZ2wxMS5vcmcudWsv&r=13786352747&d=16442445&p=1&t=h&h=ae421699cd62ba56aabcb2c09dff51f9
https://track.vuelio.uk.com/z.z?l=aHR0cHM6Ly9nbG9zY29tbXVuaXR5YnVpbGRpbmcuY28udWsv&r=13786352747&d=16442445&p=1&t=h&h=f99e64cfbe728b7d0775cc811d870e15
https://track.vuelio.uk.com/z.z?l=aHR0cHM6Ly93d3cudGhlZ3JhY2VuZXR3b3JrLm9yZy51ay8%3d&r=13786352747&d=16442445&p=1&t=h&h=063be9793df169efd51f6497a1fe1426
https://track.vuelio.uk.com/z.z?l=aHR0cHM6Ly93d3cuZmFpcnNoYXJlcy5vcmcudWsv&r=13786352747&d=16442445&p=1&t=h&h=97d3933320bd9199a5a847f731148df3
https://www.gloucestershiregatewaytrust.org.uk/


7

The Changing Futures5 programme noted that there are an estimated 363,000 people 
experiencing multiple disadvantage across England. They are among the most vulnerable in 
our communities, and often experience entrenched disadvantage, trauma and health 
inequalities while experiencing barriers in accessing the support they need as public services 
struggle to respond. At the same time, they generate significant costs to the public purse 
through repeated but ineffective contact with local services, including emergency and criminal 
justice services. The most vulnerable adults in this situation are estimated to cost the state 
five times more than the average citizen per year.

Gloucestershire were unsuccessful in their bid for Changing Futures funding (January 2020) 
however there is a great deal of appetite to look at how we can improve service responses 
and think and work across systems so that we can achieve better outcomes for individuals 
experiencing SMD.

We recognise that a key element of being able to progress this work successfully is to agree 
a shared strategic narrative across partners, identifying our appetite for system change and 
setting out our approach to those experiencing SMD.  We have engaged The King’s Fund to 
help us with the first stage of this work which will be to talk to system leaders (across health, 
care, districts, and criminal justice) and find out how SMD impacts on their part of the system, 
and what good outcomes would look like from their perspective.  The findings from the 
engagement work will be presented back to stakeholders in a workshop to be held in the 
Autumn where we hope to be able to agree our shared narrative and our next steps.

3. Ending Rough Sleeping Plan and Rough Sleeping Initiative (RSI5) 

Gloucestershire Strategic Housing Partnership submitted their Ending Rough Sleeping Plan 
and Rough Sleeping Initiative funding bid (RSI5) to Department of Levelling Up, Housing and 
Communities (DLUHC) in February this year. This is a three-year funding settlement with the 
expectation of a long-term, strategic approach to ending rough sleeping in our county.

We received notice on the 19th May of our successful bid (the detail is currently embargoed) 
which will be allocated towards various projects including bolstering our outreach provision, 
expanding our Housing First-style offer and enhancing our rough sleeper severe and multiple 
disadvantage multi-disciplinary team. 

A condition of the funding is to develop annual delivery plans and operational targets, and to 
report on progress, risks, and issues to DLUHC and the Strategic Housing Partnership will be 
taking this work forward.

4. The Gloucestershire Suicide Audit 

Background

Every suicide is a tragedy which has an immense impact on family, friends and others affected 
by the death. As part of its responsibilities for public mental health, the council co-ordinates 
the completion of a countywide Suicide Audit to help guide local action to prevent suicides. 

The audit, which takes place every few years, reviews all deaths from suicide among 
Gloucestershire residents which occurred in the county and were registered in a specific time 
period. The findings provide an understanding of the risk factors which contribute to suicide 
and feed into the Gloucestershire suicide prevention strategy and action plan. 

Completion of the Audit is overseen by the Suicide Prevention Steering Group, chaired by 
Public Health. The steering group includes representation from the Coroners Service, 

5 Changing Futures: changing systems to support adults experiencing multiple disadvantage

Page 53

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/943316/Changing_Futures_Programme_-_Prospectus_for_local_EOIs.pdf


8

Gloucestershire Constabulary, the Clinical Commissioning Group, and the Mental Health Trust 
(Gloucestershire Health and Care).  

Overall, the suicide rate in the county (11 deaths per 100,000 of the population 2018-2020) 
has remained relatively steady over the last 9 years and is in line with the national rate. There 
were 185 suicide deaths registered in the county over the three years 2018-2020. 

The 2016-2018 Suicide Audit

The latest Suicide Audit covers deaths from suicide in the county by Gloucestershire residents 
which were registered in the three-year period 2016-2018. The report combines information 
from the Coroners Service with additional information from Gloucestershire Health and Care, 
and other agencies who had contact with the individuals included in the audit cohort. 

The pandemic delayed production of the audit and prevented the inclusion of data from 
General Practice or Gloucestershire Hospitals Trust. However, for the first time the audit 
includes information from Social Care, Gloucestershire Constabulary, ‘Change, Grow, Live’ 
(the drug and alcohol service), and ‘Gloucestershire Domestic Abuse Support Service’ 
(GDASS). 

The audit looked at the deaths of 157 individuals who had died by suicide (our ‘audit cohort’). 
Nationally suicide remains higher in men, and over three quarters (76%) of the cohort were 
male. In line with the national picture, the median age of the cohort was 45-49 years and two-
thirds died in their own home.

Self-harm and/or a history of mental health issues are recognised risk factors for suicide. Over 
one in four (27%) of the Gloucestershire cohort had a history of self-harm and half were known 
to specialist mental health services.

Adverse life events are also a risk factor for suicide and the audit looked at several other 
common risk factors, including relationship breakdown, health problems or physical 
disabilities, financial hardship, contact with the Criminal Justice System and bereavement.  
Many people in the audit cohort had multiple risk factors highlighting how challenges can 
overlap and compound the adversity which an individual is facing in life.

One in five of the adults in the cohort were known to Adult Social Care and the audit 
recommends ongoing training for social care teams to raise awareness of suicide risk, 
increase confidence in talking about suicide and to help clients access support. There is also 
a recommendation to raise awareness of the mental health of Carers. 

Recommendations and next steps

The audit report contains over 80 recommendations. The overarching recommendations 
include a focus on: 

 risk assessment and suicide awareness training
 promoting the support available for people who are struggling with their mental health
 tackling stigma and barriers to accessing help; and 
 ensuring that people are aware of the social / community-based support available for 

people who may be dealing with isolation, loneliness, or other vulnerabilities. 

The factors which influence people’s risk of suicide are complex; and its prevention requires 
action across a range of settings and sectors. No single agency can achieve suicide 
prevention alone and partnership working is central to our local approach. 

The audit has been shared with key stakeholders and ICS partners, and the findings have 
been presented at several boards and forums to encourage shared learning. The 

Page 54



9

recommendations will feed into the refresh of the countywide suicide prevention strategy and 
action plan which we are hoping to complete later this year. 

5. Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment Update

Background

Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board have recently reviewed pharmacy provision 
across Gloucestershire as part of the Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment (PNA). Every Health 
and Wellbeing Board has a statutory responsibility to publish a PNA every three years and to 
ensure that this statement of needs for community pharmaceutical services in the area is kept 
up to date. Community pharmaceutical services include local chemists, dispensing doctors 
(doctors that can dispense medication to patients in rural areas) and dispensing appliance 
contractors (DACs, businesses which dispense medical appliances such as catheters). 
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     
The PNA helps to identify whether there are any gaps in the provision of pharmaceutical 
services in the county. This means identifying if any new services, improvements or better 
access to existing services are needed. The PNA considers the demographics of the 
Gloucestershire population and the health priorities of the county, as well as how 
pharmaceutical services can contribute to improving the health of Gloucestershire's residents 
now and in the future. The PNA does not look at the performance of individual pharmacies, 
which is the responsibility of NHS England. 

A steering group led by Gloucestershire County Council Prevention, Wellbeing and 
Communities Hub on behalf of the Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) 
oversaw the development of this PNA. The Steering Group was formed of representatives 
from Gloucestershire County Council (GCC), Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 
(GCCG), NHS England and Improvement (NHSEI), the Local Pharmaceutical Committee 
(LPC), the Local Medical Committee (LMC), and Healthwatch Gloucestershire. 

The PNA has been informed by Gloucestershire demographic and health data, feedback from 
the public and key professional stakeholders, and mapping and analysis of current service 
provision across Gloucestershire in order to identify if there is a need for additional premises, 
additional, services or service improvements.

Summary of Findings

As of January 2022, there were 108 community pharmacies, 28 dispensing doctors (across 
32 sites), two DACs, and one distance selling pharmacy in Gloucestershire. This equates to, 
on average, 21.2 pharmaceutical providers (community pharmacies and dispensing doctors) 
per 100,000 population. This is lower than the national rate of 21.8. The value varies across 
the districts, with the lowest ratio of providers to population in Tewkesbury (16.6) and the 
highest ratio in the Forest of Dean (28.7).

Almost all (99.9%) Gloucestershire residents can access a community pharmacy or 
dispensing GP practice within 20 minutes. While access to community pharmacies is more 
limited in rural compared to urban parts of the county, districts containing rural areas also have 
dispensing GP practices to support access to pharmaceutical services in these areas. All 
community pharmacies are open after 17.00 on weekdays and the vast majority also open on 
a Saturday. Fewer community pharmacies open on a Sunday, largely in areas with the highest 
population density. Given this, and the fact that Gloucestershire residents are able to use any 
of the distance selling pharmacies in England, there is sufficient choice with regard to obtaining 
pharmaceutical services in Gloucestershire. 

Specific comments were made in the public questionnaire about pharmaceutical provision in 
Podsmead and Nailsworth. Further statistical analyses were conducted to investigate these 
areas in more depth. These analyses found that Podsmead was one of two areas in 

Page 55



10

Gloucestershire with the greatest need but without any pharmaceutical provision in the ward. 
In addition, Podsmead residents may experience additional barriers to accessing 
pharmaceutical provision than those living in other areas of the county, due to experiencing 
worse health-related deprivation, having a higher rate of households with no car or van and 
higher rates of people providing informal care.

With regards to Nailsworth, travel catchment data indicated that Nailsworth has the second 
largest catchment population per pharmacy in Stroud District. However, Cam has a higher 
catchment population and, like Nailsworth, also has a single source of pharmaceutical 
provision, as do other areas in Stroud District with a slightly lower, but similar, catchment 
population. These data indicate that the availability of pharmaceutical provision in Nailsworth 
is similar to that seen in other areas of Stroud District.  

Conclusions

Taking into account the information included in this PNA, the Gloucestershire HWB has 
identified that there are no gaps in the provision of necessary services in Gloucestershire. 
However, there is opportunity to improve access to essential and enhanced pharmaceutical 
services in the Podsmead ward of Gloucester. The Gloucestershire HWB have identified that 
there is not currently a pharmacy in the Podsmead ward of Gloucester from Monday to 
Saturday that provides:

 all essential services,
 the new medicines service,
 the community pharmacist consultation service, 
 flu vaccinations,
 the hypertension case-finding service, and
 the stop-smoking service.

However, the Gloucestershire HWB is satisfied that if this service was provided, this would 
secure better access to essential and enhanced pharmaceutical services in the Podsmead 
ward of Gloucester.

It can be concluded that there is appropriate pharmaceutical provision in all other areas of 
Gloucestershire. In terms of future need, the Gloucestershire HWB note that there are planned 
increases in housing provision across the county in the next five years. However, they do not 
anticipate that this will significantly impact the provision of, or access to, pharmaceutical 
services in the county.

Next Steps

The draft PNA is currently out for consultation until 3rd July 2022 and is available to review at 
the following link: Pharmaceutical needs assessment - Gloucestershire County Council. 

The PNA will be updated in response to feedback received from the consultation. A final 
version of the PNA will be approved and published by 1st October 2022.

6. Oral Health

Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) is statutorily responsible for improving the oral health 
of its local population. Local authorities are expected to do this by providing or commissioning 
appropriate oral health promotion programmes to meet local need, and by providing or 
commissioning oral health surveys. 

Page 56

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/gloucestershire-health-and-wellbeing-board/pharmaceutical-needs-assessment/


11

Oral health training for care home staff

The development of an oral healthcare training package for care home staff has been a key 
priority area within the oral health portfolio. The development of a training offer was originally 
discussed prior to the COVID-19 pandemic, but capacity in the adult social care system has 
changed significantly in this time. Individuals from Gloucestershire County Council’s 
Prevention, Communities & Wellbeing (PWC) Hub, Adults Integrated Commissioning, the 
Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG), Community Dental Service, Gloucestershire Hospitals 
NHS Foundation Trust and Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS Foundation Trust have 
therefore come together to develop a county-wide approach to oral healthcare training. This 
will involve a blended offer of both virtual and face-to-face training, alongside the development 
of resources that staff can refer to whenever required. The approach will be piloted in 
approximately 10 care homes across Gloucestershire, including both nursing and residential 
units, with a wider rollout informed by an evaluation of the pilot.   

Supervised toothbrushing

NHS England are proposing the rollout of a supervised toothbrushing programme across all 
local authorities in the South West. The scheme has not yet been formally agreed, but the 
proposal is for a targeted programme, aimed at 3-year-old and reception class children in the 
most deprived areas of Gloucestershire. It is hoped that this programme will be funded for 
seven years (five years plus a 2 year extension). Further details are awaited from NHS 
England, but local public health teams are expected to be involved in the procurement 
process. 

Toothbrushing packs for distribution by health visitors

GCC’s PWC Hub recently procured 2,750 toothbrushing packs for Gloucestershire’s Health 
Visiting Service. These will be distributed to targeted children aged between nine months and 
one year during their routine developmental review and provided along with dental advice.  

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny Committee

Report from the Executive Director of Adult Social Care and Public Health

5 July 2022 – Adult Social Care Update
_________________________________________________  

Gloucestershire Volunteering Collaborative
The community response to the pandemic initiated a ‘new wave’ of volunteers and 

community action.  Across the health and care system it was recognised that 

collectively we could work together to agree priorities to deliver improved support and 

recognition for volunteering and volunteering infrastructure in Gloucestershire.  This 

proposal was presented to Enabling Active Communities and Individuals (EAC & I) in 

July 2020.  EAC & I is a cross sector partnership that reports to the ICS Delivery Board 

and the Health and Wellbeing Board.  Membership comprises the seven local 

authorities, NHS, Police and Crime Commissioner, Gloucestershire Constabulary, 

Voluntary Sector Infrastructure agencies, Know Your Patch Leads, Gloucestershire 

VCS Alliance, and Gloucestershire Association of Parish & Town Councils.

EAC & I were commissioned to carry out a review to capture the views and 

experiences of volunteers, the VCSE and businesses/employers.  The review report 

was presented to EAC & I on 6th July 2021 with a list of recommendations. Five of the 

recommendations were prioritised for further action these were:

 Establish a network/community of interest to promote volunteering and develop 

a better infrastructure.

 Create a countywide platform for volunteer opportunities and volunteer 

recruitment.

 Ensure local brokerage is based in localities where both face-to-face and phone 

support is offered.

 Long-term investment is required to support the VCSE sector.

 Work together to promote employer supported volunteering.

Page 59

Agenda Item 7



2

A cross sector project team has been working towards the first two priorities over the 

past 12 months. The Gloucestershire Volunteering Collaborative is a new county-wide 

group drawn together to provide strategic co-ordination and leadership on matters 

related to volunteering across the county.  Its members include volunteers themselves 

and representatives from the VCSE (on behalf of four ‘sub-sectors’, e.g., community-

based groups), health, local government, employers and employees, police and fire.  

The Collaborative first met in November 2021. The secretariat for the Collaborative is 

presently provided by GCCG but it will transfer to a VCS organisation from July 2022 

following a procurement process that is ring-fenced for the local VCSE. 

The aims of the Collaborative are to:

Improve the way volunteering works in the county to strengthen local 
communities through …

 Raising the profile of volunteering.

 Increasing the number of volunteers active within the county.

 Diversifying the pool of volunteers compared to the pre-Covid situation, including:

o Increasing the number of younger volunteers.

o Increasing the number of volunteers from all populations with a protected 

characteristic or from an inclusion group.

o Finding ways of supporting people in employment to volunteer via employer-

based schemes and/or in their own time.

 Increasing the number of volunteers with ‘current’ workplace skills, for example in 

social media.

 Improving ease of access to volunteering opportunities, removing any barriers.

 Improving retention of volunteers. 

 Improving the volunteer experience.

In June 2022 the Collaborative launched Go Volunteer Glos (GVG) which is a free 

website for anyone aged 16 plus who are looking to offer their time as a volunteer and 

for organisations, charities and community groups needing volunteers. This online 

service will cover all different types of volunteering from fundraising to dog walking for 

Page 60



3

an elderly person, to becoming a special constable.  Also, it could be volunteering for 

a one-off event right through to a regular commitment

GVG has been funded by joint investment from Gloucestershire County Council and 

Gloucestershire NHSCCG.   GCC invested £130,000 from the Contain Outbreak 

Management Fund into the platform and management.  The platform is managed by 

Gloucestershire VCS Alliance on behalf of the Collaborative.

For further information go to GoVolunteerGlos.org

The GCC representative on the Collaborative is Di Billingham Head of Commissioning 

(voluntary and community partnerships) Diana.billingham@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Recruitment Update

We are currently out to recruit to our two Director roles.  The selection processes will 

be carried out throughout June with a view to final decisions being sent through to the 

Appointments Committee by Monday 11th July.

Within the wider Directorate we have a high number of vacancies in a variety of key 

areas where we are experiencing difficulties in recruitment.  We have commenced 

active recruitment campaigns for these with a particular focus on our Social Work roles 

and in-house services Care roles.  In addition to these vacancies, we are adding roles 

to our establishment with additional funding being provided to ensure we are ready for 

the changes and challenges ahead with the impending ASC reforms and Inspection.

Transformation of Adult Social Care

The Committee has had a number of update reports on the work undertaken to 

implement the Care Act in Gloucestershire and in particular the strengths-based work 

undertaken under the banner of the Adult Single Programme (ASP).  The Council 

strategy has now set out the next phase of that work under the title of the Transforming 

Adult Social Care and detailed the following priorities: 

• Make early intervention and prevention, together with strength-based working, into 

all aspects of our work across the Adult Social Care System, and in our 

engagement with the developing Integrated Care System in the county.

Page 61

mailto:Diana.billingham@gloucestershire.gov.uk


4

• Build a world class ‘model’ of short-term care (the ‘Enhanced Independence Offer’) 

together with the NHS and other partners.

• Deliver a Technology Strategy: exploring the potential of technology to support 

carers and improve the quality of care that people receive.

• Work with independent care providers to address capacity gaps and over provision, 

including use of central government funding to improve the terms and conditions 

of care sector staff.

• Respond to Government legislation which will begin a once in a generation 

transformation of adult social care.

The latter as previously reported embracing amongst other things the Government’s 

commitment to reform how people in England pay for their care so no one needs to 

pay more than £86,000 for their personal care costs, alongside more generous means-

tested support for anyone with less than £100,000 in chargeable assets.  The reforms 

also include the Government’s intention to enact section 18(3) of the Care Act that will 

enable all self-funders to ask the Local Authority to arrange care on their behalf.  The 

required cost of care exercises linked to this intention have now begun in the County 

following receipt of Government guidance as to how they should be undertaken and 

using nationally endorsed models.

This work, actions related to the Council strategy priorities and on-going work linked 

to the strengths-based approach to both assessment and delivery are all now built into 

a wider Adult Transformation Programme (ATP) replacing the ASP.  The ATP also 

includes actions considered necessary in response to the The Care Quality 

Commission’s (CQC) emergent Key Lines of Enquiry (KLOE) developed following the 

Government’s confirmation of a new assurance framework for Adult Social Care. 

The plan will need to be updated as the KLOE are finalised but is expected to include 

the employment of additional staff to tackle the level of outstanding reviews, 

enhancements to our performance reporting systems and greater attention to quality 

assurance in Older People’s provision (matching developments for younger people).

Page 62



5

Further updates on the ATP and more specifically related to Charging Reform and 

Assurance will be presented to future meetings of the Committee.

EIO and the changes we are implementing

We continue to develop the Home First and Reablement service managed by 

Gloucestershire Health and Care, we have funded an additional 59 front line posts to 

increase the capacity and weekly starts from circa 30 to 75 a week. Recruitment 

nationally to care posts has been difficult, so the trajectory towards the final target is 

slower than anticipated. GHC give us regular weekly updates on numbers recruited. 

In addition, there is a review of demand and capacity in progress, and we have Caja 

supporting us to help the system understand the capacity it needs in the future, both 

for homebased and bed based services. A subsequent re-set of where our 

assessment and rehab bed bases will be completed by the end of September.

Disabilities Update
Contract Management
Commissioners and operational services across disabilities continue to have a strong 

and positive relationship, sharing information through a mature, established 

partnership.  Provider Forums for disability and mental health providers are held 

quarterly, to update providers on latest health and social care guidance/initiatives.  

These are a great opportunity to gain essential intelligence from providers and 

understand the pressures which impact on their services.

Since the COVID pandemic, we have established monthly provider bulletins to 

summarise the latest guidance to providers and useful resources.  We have received 

positive feedback from market who has found this communication useful.  These can 

be viewed here https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/health-and-social-care/provider-

information/ .

Page 63

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/health-and-social-care/provider-information/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/health-and-social-care/provider-information/


6

Community support is commissioned via Gloucestershire Health and Care Community 

Framework.  There are 6 “lots”: - 
1. Supported Living (Non-Complex) Lot – 78 Providers

2. Supported Living (Complex) Lot – 64 Providers

3. Domiciliary Care Lot – 9 Providers (* this is in addition to Rural/Urban Contracts 

commissioned via Brokerage)

4. Day Opportunities Lot – 16 Providers

5. Forensic Support Lot – 16 Providers 

6. Children and Young People Lot – 14 Providers

A Forensic “Lot” has been developed to help support more complex individuals to 

remain in Gloucestershire and support the discharge of people from In-Patient Units.  

A Community Opportunity “Lot” has been established to develop the market for smaller 

voluntary sector providers.  This provides more choice for day support and is better 

value for money and more sociable than 1:1’s.   We also run a Children and Young 

People’s “Lot” to enable some young people to stay with the same provider while they 

transition into adult services.

Work has started to review the 4-year frameworks to understand how these should 

evolve for the next Framework post 2024.

Quality Assurance

Quality Team 
The Quality Team delivers an intelligence-led service which supports quality 

improvements across care homes; supported living; domiciliary care; day 

opportunities and assessment & treatment units for people with learning and physical 

disabilities and mental health conditions.

 

Peer-led Quality Reviews
This is a commissioned service delivered by Inclusion Gloucestershire (IG).  IG employ 

“Experts by Experience” to work alongside Quality Checking Coordinators to conduct 

quality assessments in accordance with the agreed frameworks across all care 

settings.  

Page 64



7

Quality Compass and Quality Star Software 
Quality Compass is a development of the original Quality 360° survey software 

developed and pioneered by GCC. The software collects the views from an individual’s 

circle of support about the care and support services they receive. The feedback 

collected is used to generate a report, which includes recommendations for 

improvement as well as benchmarking data. This report is published to the care and 

support provider.

The Quality Star provides: -

 Quality metrics that which integrates all quality information.

 A link to current CQC inspection reports and results.

 An ability to upload reports/data from approved third party sources.

 Additional narrative by internal users.

 Customised and interactive reporting (including mapping).

 Robust security and data protection measures.

Learning Disabilities 

A Needs Analysis of people with Learning Disabilities and Autism was co-produced 

with Inclusion Gloucestershire in 2019.  The key messages are: - 

Page 65



8

*For the full Needs Analysis please see 

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2112214/your-voice-matters-report-

final.pdf 

The table below highlights the prevalence of some health conditions for people with a 

learning disability: -

Page 66

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2112214/your-voice-matters-report-final.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2112214/your-voice-matters-report-final.pdf


9

Learning Disability and Autism Clinical Programme Group
Gloucestershire LD and Autism Clinical Programme Group is the accountable body 

which oversees the work on LD and Autism for the Integrated Care System which is 

chaired by Dr Mala Ubhi.

Highlights for the year 2021/22 include: - 

 79% of people with an LD received an Annual Health Check (highest performance in SW 

Region). Gloucestershire is an Exemplar Site for NHS England to share best practice.

 LeDeR is short for an NHS programme called ‘Learning from lives and deaths – People 

with a learning disability and autistic people’. The LeDeR programme looks to learn from 

the lives and deaths of people with a Learning Disability or Autism, using this knowledge 

to improve services and reduce health inequalities. Gloucestershire continues to meet all 

Key Performance Indicators and benchmark in top percentile nationally.  

https://www.inclusiongloucestershire.co.uk/engagement/leder/#:~:text=LeDeR%20is%2

0short%20for%20an,services%20and%20reduce%20health%20inequalities

 The Transforming Care Programme (TCP) was established in the wake of Winterbourne 

View 

Page 67

https://www.inclusiongloucestershire.co.uk/engagement/leder/#:~:text=LeDeR%20is%20short%20for%20an,services%20and%20reduce%20health%20inequalities
https://www.inclusiongloucestershire.co.uk/engagement/leder/#:~:text=LeDeR%20is%20short%20for%20an,services%20and%20reduce%20health%20inequalities


10

- Gloucestershire currently has 18 people in specialist Inpatient Units (6 CCG funded 

and 14 Secure Placements. 

- The last 12-18 months, working together in partnership, we have discharged 3 people 

from one hospital, with combined length of stay more than 45 years.

- There have been no admissions to specialist CCG funded in-patient units since Nov 

2019.

- Gloucestershire has the second lowest TCP numbers in the SW Region.

- Gloucestershire has secured £540k money (last year’s Funding Transfer Agreement) 

to adapt a property for people with very complex needs.

- ICS oversight panel has been established to review all the Safe and Well Checks of all 

18 people in Inpatient Units.  Will be pulling together paper with the themes which have 

come out of the reviews.

Physical Disabilities 

 We are looking to develop more integrated pathways for people with neurological 

conditions.  This issue is an area where gaps have been highlighted more severely 

due to COVID-19.  For the first time, a Neurological Clinical Programme Group has 

been established to support this work, chaired by an expert by experience, Dr Jean 

Walters.

 Working in partnership to look at potential housing developments for people with 

Acquired Brain Injuries.

 Recommissioned the Hard of Hearing Assessment Service for Specialist 

Equipment with Gloucestershire Deaf Association, the new contract includes an 

element of British Sign Language (BSL) interpretation to allow the service to be 

more accessible.

Ageing Well 
This report describes the One Gloucestershire Ageing Well Programme, the national 

requirements and provides an update on progress. 

What is the Ageing Well Programme?
The One Gloucestershire Ageing Well Programme aims to:

Page 68



11

 support people to stay well and independent at home for as long as possible, 

wherever they call home 

 prevent unnecessary admissions to hospitals and residential care; and 

accelerate the treatment of people’s urgent care needs

 ensure people can return home safely and timely after being in hospital. 

Hosted by the Integrated Commissioning Service, it brings together key stakeholders 

from organisations across the county to enable and ensure a whole system response.   

In recognition of the wide remit of ‘ageing’ and interdependencies with the Adult Single 

Programme, Gloucestershire has chosen to retain the name ‘Ageing Well’ while the 

NHSEI programme has changed to ‘Discharge and Community Services’, as the 

delivery mechanism for realising the objectives of the NHS Long Term Plan. The 

programme is informed by the LGA’s High Impact Change Model for reducing 

preventable admissions to hospital and long-term care as it aims to support local care, 

health and wellbeing partners to work together to prevent, delay or divert the need for 

acute hospital or long-term bed-based care. 

The Ageing Well Programme reports to both the GCCG Core and NHSE and has many 

important interdependencies with other programmes and Clinical Programme Groups, 

including GCC’s Adult Single Programme.  The four workstreams are:

1. Anticipatory Care (AC): proactive multi-disciplinary care and support targeted at 

people living with frailty and complex care and health needs to help them stay 

independent and healthy for as long as possible at home or the place they call 

home by focussing on what is important to the individual.

2. Urgent Community Response (UCR): to avoid unnecessary hospital admission 

and support discharge by ensuring that that everyone who requires a two-hour 

crisis response receives one, regardless of where they live along with the provision 

of reablement care for people who need it within a maximum of two days.

3. Enhanced Health in Care Homes (EHCH) and Care Sector Support: to ensure 

that people living in care homes receive the same level of care and support as 

those living in their own homes through the provision of proactive and preventative 

Page 69



12

care centred on the needs of individual residents, their families, and care home 

staff along with enhanced support and better coordinated care, reablement and 

rehabilitation.

4. Digital: To deliver digital transformation of community services 

Progress

Anticipatory Care: A national framework is due to be published in June and all health 

and care systems are required to prepare plans for implementation in April 2023. Early 

indications are that the focus for implementation will be people living with moderate 

and severe frailty, people experiencing health inequalities and people relying on 

unplanned care to manage their conditions.

Through collaboration and partnership Gloucestershire has built strong foundations 

from which to develop our anticipatory model including the Complex Care @ Home 

Service, the South Cotswolds Frailty Service, the Stroud and Berkeley Vale Dementia 

Model, the Virtual Whiteboard project as well as multi-disciplinary working and 

population health management approaches.  The first Anticipatory Care Collaborative 

event is planned for early July, and this will be complemented by a county-wide 

Anticipatory Care Network that will build a community of practice for operational staff 

from health, social care and VCSE organisations.

UCR: Local data has shown that people who fall are at most risk of a preventable 

admission.  Working with SWAST, GHC’s Rapid Response Service has started to pilot 

a falls service and GFRS is enhancing its Telecare offer by developing a service that 

will pick up people who have had a non-injurious fall.  The options for providing support 

to people who can stay at home immediately following their fall are also being 

explored.

Enhanced Health in Care Homes (EHCH) and Care Sector Support:   The AW 

Programme has recently established an ICS EHCH Delivery Group to bring together 

colleagues from across the system to cover the broad range of elements contained in 

the Framework; this includes representation from the independent care sector, 

brokerage, the Care Sector Support Team and Gloucestershire Health and Care Trust. 

Work is underway to revisit the metrics for the delivery of the Framework which 

includes mapping across the Care Elements to establish baselines where these 

Page 70



13

currently don’t exist as well as a clear focus on collating the broad range of learning, 

development and training opportunities for the independent sector and ensuring what 

is available meets the Framework.

Digital: The focus is on improving communication and information sharing and 

enhance the health and care provision through use of digital technology. Priorities:  

development of a shared digital care plan that can be accessed easily and avoids 

duplication of information, a legally mandated 24/7 palliative and end of life helpline 

and a digital care home strategy. 

Quality, service improvement and personalisation are golden threads throughout 

the programme and evidence generated as a result of partnership working informs the 

development of the programme:

Learning from Case Review Group: Brings together colleagues from across the 

system to review the individuals’ experiences of health and care in order to provide 

learning that can inform service development and improve the experiences of care.

Hospital discharge deep dive: To better understand the needs of people and 

reasons for attendances at GHFT Emergency Department to identify and inform 

opportunities for service review and development particularly in terms of reducing 

avoidable attendances.

Outcome on the OSJ Consultation 

In March 2022 we sought approval from our Cabinet to consult on the proposed 

closure and decommissioning of 4 homes under the Gloucestershire Care Partnership 

to be able to support, and directly influence and aid Market Sustainability in 

Gloucestershire.

The following for homes were:

 The Elms, Stonehouse

 Orchard House, Bishops Cleeve,

 Bohanam House, Gloucester

 Westbury Court, Forest of Dean

While we sought approval to consult on the decommissioning and closure of 4 care 

homes across the county, we also put forward proposals to reinvest in the market, and 

Page 71



14

in the development of new care facilities to meet the future needs and rises in demands 

of the demographic profiles when we reach 2025-2030. 

The consultation ran for six weeks, it began on the 8th April and ended on the 20th May. 

During the 6-week consultation officers spent a great deal of time listening to and 

gathering feedback from all of the staff, residents, relatives and the wider community 

to understand the impact of the proposals, as well as giving opportunity to hear their 

thoughts and feedback on how we can work with our market to support them and meet 

the wishes and demands of our population in the future.  

There was also the option to access Gloucestershire County Council Consultation 

portal to further engage in the consultation. (For those without online access, a printout 

of the questionnaire along with a prepaid postage envelope was provided) 

Gloucestershire County Council also advertised the online survey widely through 

traditional and social media to enable the wider community to contribute to the 

consultation and share their views. 

The survey opened on 6th April 2022 and closed at 5pm on 20th May 2022.  During this 

time there were 416 visits to the site. 134 surveys were completed. In addition to these 

10 hard copies were submitted through the post

Officers also spent time responding to many questions, giving as much information 

regarding the rationale and reasonings for the proposals as possible. All the feedback 

we have received from staff, residents and relatives was that they felt the consultation 

process was too long, and that this increased anxiety. 

Outcome of Consultation 

Most responses to the consultation fell into six key areas:

 The impact on the health & well-being of residents associated with the 

move

 The desirability of localised care and the impact of closures on the 

distance of residents from their relative and friends

 The loss of wider friendship groups associated with the home

Page 72



15

 Questions about the financial implications:   both individual and as a 

motivator for Gloucestershire County Council

 The process for closure

 The rationale for closure

As expected, consultation feedback was focussed on the impact of the closures on 

those individuals who are directly affected, rather than the broader impact on market 

stability. Many of the comments and concerns from relatives, and staff was the impact 

that a move could potentially have on the resident’s mental health & physical 

wellbeing. Staff expressed that they felt the homes were a ‘family’ and voiced their 

concerns on the impact this would have on both staff and residents if they were to 

move to another facility. 

Gloucestershire is unusual in having an oversupply of care home beds for older 

people. There are currently enough vacancies available to be able to support all 

residents of the four homes in question to move to alternative provision.

The risk in not taking action to manage the market, is that we will lose a greater 

percentage of provision in an unmanaged way. In this scenario there may not be 

sufficient places available within the required timescales for those for whom an 

alternative placement would need to be found. While consultation feedback 

emphasised the strength of opposition amongst those most directly affected, and we 

recognise the impact on those individuals, at this stage there is a potential greater 

harm in not actively planning the constriction of the residential care market.

Therefore, we will be returning to Cabinet on the 22nd of June 2022 with the proposal 

and recommend option to decommission the four homes. 

Page 73



This page is intentionally left blank



Quarter 4 2021/22

Purpose of the report
To provide a strategic overview of the Council's performance for Quarter 4 2021/22.

The following scorecards are enclosed:

Prepared by the Performance and Improvement Team

Page number
Key to Symbols 2
Adult Social Care – Commissioning 3
Adult Social Care  Delivery 5
Prevention, Wellbeing & Communities 7
Public Protection, Parking & Libraries 9
Strategic Risk Register Summary 10

Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny
Committee

1

P
age 75

A
genda Item

 8



Risk Impact/Consequence

Likelihood 1
Insignificant

2
Minor

3
Moderate

4
Major

5
Critical

Almost
certain
(5)

5 10 15 20 25

Likely
(4) 4 8 12 16 20

Probable
(3) 3 6 9 12 15

Possible
(2) 2 4 6 8 10

Rare
(1) 1 2 3 4 5

Reporting Basis

Year to Date Performance accumulated over the year

Rolling Year Average performance over a 12 month
period

Annual Performance measured once a year

Latest
Quarter

Performance this quarter

Snapshot Performance at a particular point in time

Forecast Predicted position at the end of the year

Level of
Risk

Score

Low 1  6
Moderate 7 – 12
High 13 – 25

Risk Rating
(calculated by multiplying the Impact with the Likelihood of each risk)

Risk Symbols
Risk Value Increasing
Risk Value Decreasing
No Change

Measure Symbols
Performance Better than Target
Performance Worse than Target
Performance significantly worse than Target
No information
Missing Target
No Value

Bigger is Better A bigger value for this measure is good
Smaller is Better A smaller value for this measure is good
Plan is best Where it is better for performance to be on target rather than above or below

Key to Symbols

2

P
age 76



Commissioning  Adult Social Care

Cllr Kathy Williams

Mental Health

% of referrals for an AMHP assessment that led to support or
protection being put in place

Bigger is Better Latest Quarter 58.5% 60.9% 60.5% 57.4% 60.0%

Of the 338 AMHP Assessments completed in the
quarter, 194 resulted in detention or other support
being put in place (57.4%).

Overall in 2021/22 there were 1,340 Assessments
completed with 794 resulting in detention or other
support being put in place (59.3%)

n/a

% of Individuals with a second or subsequent AMHP
assessment with 12 months

Smaller is Better Latest Quarter 25.1% 27.1% 30.8% 40.0% 40.0%
This includes individuals detained under Section 2
who are then (appropriately) reassessed for Section
3 within 28 days

n/a

% of Adults receiving secondary Mental Health services in
settled accommodation

Bigger is Better Snapshot 89.0% 89.0% 88.0% 89.0% 89.0% 85.0% Information as at end of February 2022. 55.0%

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Mar21 Jun21 Sep21 Dec21
Actual
Mar22

Target
Mar22

Comments
Comparator
Group

Learning Disability

% of Adults with Learning Disabilities in settled
accommodation

Bigger is Better Snapshot 79.1% 79.1% 79.1% 78.6% 78.6% 78.0% 73.8%

% of Adults with Learning Disabilities in Employment Bigger is Better Annual 6.4% 3.1% 0.8% 2.7% 2.7%
Relates to 2020/21 ASCOF  next update due in late
2022

3.9%

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Mar21 Jun21 Sep21 Dec21
Actual
Mar22

Target
Mar22

Comments
Comparator
Group

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Mar18 Mar19 Mar20 Mar21 Actual Mar22 Comments
Comparator
Group

Adult Social Care Transformation

% of GCC Commissioned Providers judged to be Good or
Outstanding by CQC

Bigger is Better Latest Quarter 94.1% 92.3% 92.6% 91.2% 90.0%

Latest data from CQC (in relationship to Social Care
providers) indicates:
18 providers are rated as Outstanding
200 providers are rated as Good
21 providers are rated as Requires Improvement
One provider is rated as Inadequate

n/a

Permanent admissions 1864 to residential & nursing care
homes per 100,000 population Smaller is Better Rolling Year 8.3 8.3 17.2 15.6 14.3 11.7

There were 53 permanent admissions in the 12
months to 31 March 2022. Data was run on 4 April
2022.

Note that admissions rates for the last 5 quarters
have been refreshed to include only individuals who:
Are new entries to a Care Home setting (having
never been in Residential or Nursing care before)
or
Have had a gap of at least 30 days from the date
of their last Care Home service ending.

11.7

Permanent admissions aged 65+ to residential & nursing care
homes per 100,000 population Smaller is Better Rolling Year 355.8 267.5 272.6 264.7 207.3 421.2

There were 289 permanent admissions in the 12
months to 31 March 2022. Data was run on 4 April
2022.

Note that admissions rates for the last 5 quarters
have been refreshed to include only individuals who:
Are new entries to a Care Home setting (having
never been in Residential or Nursing care before)
or
Have had a gap of at least 30 days from the date
of their last Care Home service ending.

421.2

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Mar21 Jun21 Sep21 Dec21
Actual
Mar22

Target
Mar22

Comments
Comparator
Group

Average waiting time for a Care Act Compliant Assessment (in
working days)

Smaller is Better Snapshot 14.0 15.0 17.0 17.0 17.0 30.0 n/a

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Mar21 Jun21 Sep21 Dec21
Actual
Mar22

Target
Mar22

Comments
Comparator
Group

3

P
age 77

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col12')


Commissioning  Adult Social Care

Cllr Kathy Williams

Mental Health

% of referrals for an AMHP assessment that led to support or
protection being put in place

Bigger is Better Latest Quarter 58.5% 60.9% 60.5% 57.4% 60.0%

Of the 338 AMHP Assessments completed in the
quarter, 194 resulted in detention or other support
being put in place (57.4%).

Overall in 2021/22 there were 1,340 Assessments
completed with 794 resulting in detention or other
support being put in place (59.3%)

n/a

% of Individuals with a second or subsequent AMHP
assessment with 12 months

Smaller is Better Latest Quarter 25.1% 27.1% 30.8% 40.0% 40.0%
This includes individuals detained under Section 2
who are then (appropriately) reassessed for Section
3 within 28 days

n/a

% of Adults receiving secondary Mental Health services in
settled accommodation

Bigger is Better Snapshot 89.0% 89.0% 88.0% 89.0% 89.0% 85.0% Information as at end of February 2022. 55.0%

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Mar21 Jun21 Sep21 Dec21
Actual
Mar22

Target
Mar22

Comments
Comparator
Group

Learning Disability

% of Adults with Learning Disabilities in settled
accommodation

Bigger is Better Snapshot 79.1% 79.1% 79.1% 78.6% 78.6% 78.0% 73.8%

% of Adults with Learning Disabilities in Employment Bigger is Better Annual 6.4% 3.1% 0.8% 2.7% 2.7%
Relates to 2020/21 ASCOF  next update due in late
2022

3.9%

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Mar21 Jun21 Sep21 Dec21
Actual
Mar22

Target
Mar22

Comments
Comparator
Group

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Mar18 Mar19 Mar20 Mar21 Actual Mar22 Comments
Comparator
Group

Adult Social Care Transformation

% of GCC Commissioned Providers judged to be Good or
Outstanding by CQC

Bigger is Better Latest Quarter 94.1% 92.3% 92.6% 91.2% 90.0%

Latest data from CQC (in relationship to Social Care
providers) indicates:
18 providers are rated as Outstanding
200 providers are rated as Good
21 providers are rated as Requires Improvement
One provider is rated as Inadequate

n/a

Permanent admissions 1864 to residential & nursing care
homes per 100,000 population Smaller is Better Rolling Year 8.3 8.3 17.2 15.6 14.3 11.7

There were 53 permanent admissions in the 12
months to 31 March 2022. Data was run on 4 April
2022.

Note that admissions rates for the last 5 quarters
have been refreshed to include only individuals who:
Are new entries to a Care Home setting (having
never been in Residential or Nursing care before)
or
Have had a gap of at least 30 days from the date
of their last Care Home service ending.

11.7

Permanent admissions aged 65+ to residential & nursing care
homes per 100,000 population Smaller is Better Rolling Year 355.8 267.5 272.6 264.7 207.3 421.2

There were 289 permanent admissions in the 12
months to 31 March 2022. Data was run on 4 April
2022.

Note that admissions rates for the last 5 quarters
have been refreshed to include only individuals who:
Are new entries to a Care Home setting (having
never been in Residential or Nursing care before)
or
Have had a gap of at least 30 days from the date
of their last Care Home service ending.

421.2

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Mar21 Jun21 Sep21 Dec21
Actual
Mar22

Target
Mar22

Comments
Comparator
Group

Average waiting time for a Care Act Compliant Assessment (in
working days)

Smaller is Better Snapshot 14.0 15.0 17.0 17.0 17.0 30.0 n/a

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Mar21 Jun21 Sep21 Dec21
Actual
Mar22

Target
Mar22

Comments
Comparator
Group

4

Carers

P
age 78

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col12')


Delivery  Adult Social Care

Cllr Carole AllawayMartin

Adult Safeguarding

% of Section 42 enquiries this quarter where the risk was
reduced or removed

Bigger is Better Latest Quarter 93.1% 83.3% 85.3% 87.3% 81.8% 85.0%

There were 148 S42 closures during Quarter 4. Of
these only 12 (8.1%) were closed with the Risk
Remaining. There were 15 closures (10.1%) where
the outcome was 'Inconclusive'.

84.4%

% of S42 Enquiries open for more than 26 weeks Smaller is Better Latest Quarter 32.4% 48.3% 39.1% 26.2% 24.2% 30.0%
At the end of March 2022 there were 194 open S42
Enquiries of which 47 (24.2%) had been open for
more than 26 weeks.

n/a

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Mar21 Jun21 Sep21 Dec21
Actual
Mar22

Target
Mar22

Comments
Comparator
Group

Adult Social Care

% of Service Users who have had a review/ reassessment of
their needs within the last 12 months

Bigger is Better Snapshot 53.0% 43.6% 52.1% 42.0% 50.7% 50.0%

At the end of March 2022 there were 2,619 individuals
overdue a Care Act Review which is a reduction of
510 compared to the position at the end of December
2021. This equates to 50.7% of the total Adult Social
Care clients who have an uptodate review.

n/a

% of all ASC Contacts with a decision within 1 working day Bigger is Better Latest Quarter 94.2% 93.5% 93.7% 96.7% ? 95.0%

Figures for Quarter 4 are unavailable due to ICT
Infrastructure and permissions issues.

The overall figure for Quarters 13 2021/22  shows
that Customer Services Centre achieved 96.5% of all
contacts being assigned a decision within 1 working
day, whereas all other areas only achieved 87.0% of
decisions within 1 working day  this reduced the
overall figure to 93.5%.

n/a

% of ASC contacts signposted or closed Bigger is Better Latest Quarter 33.0% 35.2% 35.6% 35.4% 34.7% 33.0%

Relates to all Contacts which were closed as 'No
Further Action'. Due to a system configuration
change, the % of Contacts signposted is unavailable.
Data refreshed for Quarters 13 to include NFAs only.

n/a

% of clients who need no long term care after their period of
reablement

Bigger is Better Latest Quarter 85.6% 92.5% 89.5% 91.3% 89.4% 85.0%
There were 311 clients ending Reablement in Quarter
4 of which 33 did not achieve the required outcome.

n/a

Delayed transfers of care from hospital due to Adult Social
Care per 100,000 population

Smaller is Better Rolling Year ? ? ? ? ? 3.50
DTOC measures were suspended on 1st March 2020
There is no data available at present.

3.50

Social care reported quality of life Bigger is Better Annual 19.7 19.1 19.6 19.6 19.6
Relates to March 2020 figure. Next update due in late
2022.

19.1

Carer reported Quality of Life Bigger is Better Annual 7.4 7.4 7.4 7.4 7.4
Relates to March 2019 figure. Updated figures are
expected in the second half of 2022.

7.4

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Mar21 Jun21 Sep21 Dec21
Actual
Mar22

Target
Mar22

Comments
Comparator
Group

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Dec20 Mar21 Jun21 Sep21
Actual
Dec21

Target
Dec21

Comments
Comparator
Group

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Mar17 Mar18 Mar19 Mar20 Actual Mar21 Comments
Comparator
Group

Average number of working days to complete a FAB
assessment

Smaller is Better Latest Quarter 16.2 16.1 15.4 32.4

There were 366 FAB Assessments completed in the
Quarter taking an average of 32.4 working days to
complete each Assessment. This increase reflects a
large number of 'Legacy' cases which were closed in
the Quarter including 14 cases which took longer than
100 working days to close.

At the end of March 2022 there were 313 FAB
Assessments 'In progress'. These had been open for
an average of 85.8 working days.
72 Assessments (23%) had been open for over 6
months
96 Assessments (31%) had been open for
between 36 months
145 Assessments (46%) had been open for less
than 3 months

n/a

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Mar21 Jun21 Sep21 Dec21 Actual Mar22 Comments
Comparator
Group

5

P
age 79

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col12')


Delivery  Adult Social Care

Cllr Carole AllawayMartin

Adult Safeguarding

% of Section 42 enquiries this quarter where the risk was
reduced or removed

Bigger is Better Latest Quarter 93.1% 83.3% 85.3% 87.3% 81.8% 85.0%

There were 148 S42 closures during Quarter 4. Of
these only 12 (8.1%) were closed with the Risk
Remaining. There were 15 closures (10.1%) where
the outcome was 'Inconclusive'.

84.4%

% of S42 Enquiries open for more than 26 weeks Smaller is Better Latest Quarter 32.4% 48.3% 39.1% 26.2% 24.2% 30.0%
At the end of March 2022 there were 194 open S42
Enquiries of which 47 (24.2%) had been open for
more than 26 weeks.

n/a

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Mar21 Jun21 Sep21 Dec21
Actual
Mar22

Target
Mar22

Comments
Comparator
Group

Adult Social Care

% of Service Users who have had a review/ reassessment of
their needs within the last 12 months

Bigger is Better Snapshot 53.0% 43.6% 52.1% 42.0% 50.7% 50.0%

At the end of March 2022 there were 2,619 individuals
overdue a Care Act Review which is a reduction of
510 compared to the position at the end of December
2021. This equates to 50.7% of the total Adult Social
Care clients who have an uptodate review.

n/a

% of all ASC Contacts with a decision within 1 working day Bigger is Better Latest Quarter 94.2% 93.5% 93.7% 96.7% ? 95.0%

Figures for Quarter 4 are unavailable due to ICT
Infrastructure and permissions issues.

The overall figure for Quarters 13 2021/22  shows
that Customer Services Centre achieved 96.5% of all
contacts being assigned a decision within 1 working
day, whereas all other areas only achieved 87.0% of
decisions within 1 working day  this reduced the
overall figure to 93.5%.

n/a

% of ASC contacts signposted or closed Bigger is Better Latest Quarter 33.0% 35.2% 35.6% 35.4% 34.7% 33.0%

Relates to all Contacts which were closed as 'No
Further Action'. Due to a system configuration
change, the % of Contacts signposted is unavailable.
Data refreshed for Quarters 13 to include NFAs only.

n/a

% of clients who need no long term care after their period of
reablement

Bigger is Better Latest Quarter 85.6% 92.5% 89.5% 91.3% 89.4% 85.0%
There were 311 clients ending Reablement in Quarter
4 of which 33 did not achieve the required outcome.

n/a

Delayed transfers of care from hospital due to Adult Social
Care per 100,000 population

Smaller is Better Rolling Year ? ? ? ? ? 3.50
DTOC measures were suspended on 1st March 2020
There is no data available at present.

3.50

Social care reported quality of life Bigger is Better Annual 19.7 19.1 19.6 19.6 19.6
Relates to March 2020 figure. Next update due in late
2022.

19.1

Carer reported Quality of Life Bigger is Better Annual 7.4 7.4 7.4 7.4 7.4
Relates to March 2019 figure. Updated figures are
expected in the second half of 2022.

7.4

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Mar21 Jun21 Sep21 Dec21
Actual
Mar22

Target
Mar22

Comments
Comparator
Group

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Dec20 Mar21 Jun21 Sep21
Actual
Dec21

Target
Dec21

Comments
Comparator
Group

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Mar17 Mar18 Mar19 Mar20 Actual Mar21 Comments
Comparator
Group

Average number of working days to complete a FAB
assessment

Smaller is Better Latest Quarter 16.2 16.1 15.4 32.4

There were 366 FAB Assessments completed in the
Quarter taking an average of 32.4 working days to
complete each Assessment. This increase reflects a
large number of 'Legacy' cases which were closed in
the Quarter including 14 cases which took longer than
100 working days to close.

At the end of March 2022 there were 313 FAB
Assessments 'In progress'. These had been open for
an average of 85.8 working days.
72 Assessments (23%) had been open for over 6
months
96 Assessments (31%) had been open for
between 36 months
145 Assessments (46%) had been open for less
than 3 months

n/a

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Mar21 Jun21 Sep21 Dec21 Actual Mar22 Comments
Comparator
Group

6

FAB

P
age 80

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col12')


Prevention, WellBeing and Communities

Cllr Tim Harman
Public Health

Proportion of adult alcohol misusers who successfully
completed treatment and did not represent within 6 months of
completion

Bigger is Better Quarter in
Arrears

31.2% 28.1% 25.9% 23.3% 26.7% 35.0%

The Q3 performance is 26.7% (215/805) which is an
improvement on Q2.  Projecting forward from Q3 we
have reasonable confidence that performance will
continue recover toward the end of Q4 continuing to
improve toward the end of Q1 202223.  Whilst the
effects of the safety measures introduced in response
to the pandemic continue to impact this metric, the
current trajectory reflects the actions taken to
improve performance.  A further 119 completions
would have been required to bring this into the LA
family comparator top quartile (range: 41.49% 
51.68%).

36.9%

Proportion of all Opiate Users in treatment, who successfully
completed treatment and did not represent within 6 months of
completion

Bigger is Better Quarter in
Arrears

4.6% 5.1% 4.4% 3.8% 4.1% 6.3%

The Q3 performance is 4.1% (56/1,355) which is an
improvement on Q2.  Projecting forward 6 months,
we are anticipating that the performance will continue
to slowly recover toward the end of Q4 and remain
steady to the end of Q1 202223.  Whilst the effects
of the safety measures introduced in response to the
pandemic continue to impact this metric, the current
trajectory reflects the actions taken to improve
performance.  In Q2 a further 36 completions would
have been required to bring this into the LA family
comparator top quartile (range: 6.76%  10.22%).

5.7%

Proportion of all NonOpiate Users in treatment, not
representing 6 months after completion

Bigger is Better Quarter in
Arrears

25.7% 25.3% 21.3% 18.3% 20.3% 33.2%

The Q3 performance is 20.3% (140/689) which is an
improvement on Q2.  Projecting forward 6 months,
we are anticipating that the performance will continue
to slowly recover toward the end of Q4 and to the end
of Q1 202223. Whilst the effects of the safety
measures introduced in response to the pandemic
continue to impact this metric, the current trajectory
reflects the actions taken to improve performance.
Q2 a further 120 completions would have been
required to bring this into the LA family comparator
top quartile (range:  38.02%  49.12%).

33.2%

% of pregnant smokers achieving a 4 week quit Bigger is Better Quarter in
Arrears

80.0% 87.0% 82.0% 80.0% 67.0% 70.0%

The service continues to achieve good outcomes with
67% of pregnant women achieving a 4week quit in
Q3.  However, this is lower than the Q2 figure (80%).
There have been some staff changes made within the
service with a new member of staff being trained to
provide specialist support to pregnant smokers.  It
takes time for new recruits to gain confidence and
experience and this will affect quit rates.  The 67% is
still significantly higher than the England average for
20/21 of 48%.

n/a

Number of customers who achieve a significant risk factor
improvement

Bigger is Better Quarter in
Arrears

735 619 614 847 794 763

The numbers achieving an improvement has
decreased slightly to 794 in Q3 compared to 847 (a
difference of 53) in Q2.  However, the percentage
achieving improvement has increased from 59% in
Q2 to 65% inQ3.

n/a

Good Performance High/Low
Reporting
Basis

Dec20 Mar21 Jun21 Sep21
Actual
Dec21

Target
Dec21

Comments
Comparator
Group

% Reception Children overweight including obesity Smaller is Better Academic Year 24.3% 23.8% 22.0% 23.7% 26.3%

Data should be analysed with caution as due to covid
restrictions local authorities were advised to complete
measurements in a representative 10% sample of
schools. Gloucestershire were able to measure 98%
of receptionage children, giving us a high level of
confidence in our local data for this age group, yet
data is not directly comparable to the previous year
due to the differing sample size. In 2020/21
Gloucestershire saw an increase in receptionage
children with overweight or obesity from 23.7% to
26.3% compared to the previous year.

Data has not been published at local authority level
meaning we have been unable to benchmark, but the
increase in prevalence of overweight or obesity in
Gloucestershire has been reflected at both a regional
and national level. The South West saw an increase
from 22.8% to 26.9% and England saw an increase
from 23% to 27.7%.

% Year 6 Children overweight including obesity Smaller is Better Academic Year 31.1% 32.1% 31.9% 32.4% 36.0%

Data should be analysed with caution as due to covid
restrictions local authorities were advised to complete
measurements in a representative 10% sample of
schools. Gloucestershire saw an increase in year 6
age children with overweight or obesity from 32.4%
to 36% compared to the previous year.

Data has not been published at local authority level
meaning we have been unable to benchmark, but the
increase in prevalence of overweight or obesity in
Gloucestershire has been reflected at both a regional
and national level. The South West saw an increase
from 31.8% to 37.3% and England saw an increase
from 35.2% to 40.9%.

n/a

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Sep17 Sep18 Sep19 Sep20 Actual Sep21 Comments
Comparator
Group

Suicide rate per 100,000 Population Smaller is Better 3Year Average 10.8 9.8 10.4 10.2 11.0 11.4

The figure reported covers the three year period
(20182020) where there were an additional 15
suicides compared to 20172019 (from 170 to 185).
The National, Regional, Comparator Group and
Gloucestershire rates have all increased since 2017
2019. Gloucestershire's rate remains broadly in line
with both the National rate of 10.4 and our
Comparator Group (11.4). The South West regional
rate is 11.6.

11.4

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Dec16 Dec17 Dec18 Dec19
Actual
Dec20

Target
Dec20

Comments
Comparator
Group

7

P
age 81

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col12')


Prevention, WellBeing and Communities

Cllr Tim Harman
Public Health

Proportion of adult alcohol misusers who successfully
completed treatment and did not represent within 6 months of
completion

Bigger is Better Quarter in
Arrears

31.2% 28.1% 25.9% 23.3% 26.7% 35.0%

The Q3 performance is 26.7% (215/805) which is an
improvement on Q2.  Projecting forward from Q3 we
have reasonable confidence that performance will
continue recover toward the end of Q4 continuing to
improve toward the end of Q1 202223.  Whilst the
effects of the safety measures introduced in response
to the pandemic continue to impact this metric, the
current trajectory reflects the actions taken to
improve performance.  A further 119 completions
would have been required to bring this into the LA
family comparator top quartile (range: 41.49% 
51.68%).

36.9%

Proportion of all Opiate Users in treatment, who successfully
completed treatment and did not represent within 6 months of
completion

Bigger is Better Quarter in
Arrears

4.6% 5.1% 4.4% 3.8% 4.1% 6.3%

The Q3 performance is 4.1% (56/1,355) which is an
improvement on Q2.  Projecting forward 6 months,
we are anticipating that the performance will continue
to slowly recover toward the end of Q4 and remain
steady to the end of Q1 202223.  Whilst the effects
of the safety measures introduced in response to the
pandemic continue to impact this metric, the current
trajectory reflects the actions taken to improve
performance.  In Q2 a further 36 completions would
have been required to bring this into the LA family
comparator top quartile (range: 6.76%  10.22%).

5.7%

Proportion of all NonOpiate Users in treatment, not
representing 6 months after completion

Bigger is Better Quarter in
Arrears

25.7% 25.3% 21.3% 18.3% 20.3% 33.2%

The Q3 performance is 20.3% (140/689) which is an
improvement on Q2.  Projecting forward 6 months,
we are anticipating that the performance will continue
to slowly recover toward the end of Q4 and to the end
of Q1 202223. Whilst the effects of the safety
measures introduced in response to the pandemic
continue to impact this metric, the current trajectory
reflects the actions taken to improve performance.
Q2 a further 120 completions would have been
required to bring this into the LA family comparator
top quartile (range:  38.02%  49.12%).

33.2%

% of pregnant smokers achieving a 4 week quit Bigger is Better Quarter in
Arrears

80.0% 87.0% 82.0% 80.0% 67.0% 70.0%

The service continues to achieve good outcomes with
67% of pregnant women achieving a 4week quit in
Q3.  However, this is lower than the Q2 figure (80%).
There have been some staff changes made within the
service with a new member of staff being trained to
provide specialist support to pregnant smokers.  It
takes time for new recruits to gain confidence and
experience and this will affect quit rates.  The 67% is
still significantly higher than the England average for
20/21 of 48%.

n/a

Number of customers who achieve a significant risk factor
improvement

Bigger is Better Quarter in
Arrears

735 619 614 847 794 763

The numbers achieving an improvement has
decreased slightly to 794 in Q3 compared to 847 (a
difference of 53) in Q2.  However, the percentage
achieving improvement has increased from 59% in
Q2 to 65% inQ3.

n/a

Good Performance High/Low
Reporting
Basis

Dec20 Mar21 Jun21 Sep21
Actual
Dec21

Target
Dec21

Comments
Comparator
Group

% Reception Children overweight including obesity Smaller is Better Academic Year 24.3% 23.8% 22.0% 23.7% 26.3%

Data should be analysed with caution as due to covid
restrictions local authorities were advised to complete
measurements in a representative 10% sample of
schools. Gloucestershire were able to measure 98%
of receptionage children, giving us a high level of
confidence in our local data for this age group, yet
data is not directly comparable to the previous year
due to the differing sample size. In 2020/21
Gloucestershire saw an increase in receptionage
children with overweight or obesity from 23.7% to
26.3% compared to the previous year.

Data has not been published at local authority level
meaning we have been unable to benchmark, but the
increase in prevalence of overweight or obesity in
Gloucestershire has been reflected at both a regional
and national level. The South West saw an increase
from 22.8% to 26.9% and England saw an increase
from 23% to 27.7%.

% Year 6 Children overweight including obesity Smaller is Better Academic Year 31.1% 32.1% 31.9% 32.4% 36.0%

Data should be analysed with caution as due to covid
restrictions local authorities were advised to complete
measurements in a representative 10% sample of
schools. Gloucestershire saw an increase in year 6
age children with overweight or obesity from 32.4%
to 36% compared to the previous year.

Data has not been published at local authority level
meaning we have been unable to benchmark, but the
increase in prevalence of overweight or obesity in
Gloucestershire has been reflected at both a regional
and national level. The South West saw an increase
from 31.8% to 37.3% and England saw an increase
from 35.2% to 40.9%.

n/a

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Sep17 Sep18 Sep19 Sep20 Actual Sep21 Comments
Comparator
Group

Suicide rate per 100,000 Population Smaller is Better 3Year Average 10.8 9.8 10.4 10.2 11.0 11.4

The figure reported covers the three year period
(20182020) where there were an additional 15
suicides compared to 20172019 (from 170 to 185).
The National, Regional, Comparator Group and
Gloucestershire rates have all increased since 2017
2019. Gloucestershire's rate remains broadly in line
with both the National rate of 10.4 and our
Comparator Group (11.4). The South West regional
rate is 11.6.

11.4

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Dec16 Dec17 Dec18 Dec19
Actual
Dec20

Target
Dec20

Comments
Comparator
Group

8

P
age 82

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col12')


Public Protection

Cllr Dave Norman

Libraries

Number of lighttouch business interactions supported by the
Growth Hubs

Bigger is Better Year to Date 4 27 74 65 65 100

Libraries are not back to their full expectation with
footfall generally, there is work to do around building
confidence for returning customers and this may be
see in the drop of numbers with the Growth Hubs. As
we begin to get back to 'normal' within libraries we
have refreshed training to roll out on all elements that
attract work around business to business in a newly
branded 'Libraries Network' which includes the Growth
Hubs. It is hoped that with this refreshed training
there will be more confidence from library staff to
promote the service of the Growth Hubs

n/a

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Mar21 Jun21 Sep21 Dec21
Actual
Mar22

Target
Mar22

Comments
Comparator
Group

Road Safety

Number of killed and seriously injured people Smaller is Better Calendar Year
to Date

277 39 130 235 324 292

Performance in the latest quarter comparable to the
previous quarter where KSI casualties had
unfortunately returned to pre pandemic levels.  The
new Road Safety policy is now in its final draft stage
and awaiting feedback  and any consequent edits
before going to consultation stage.
The new road safety policy carries the following two
targets :

1. Vision Zero – to eliminate all traffic fatalities
and severe injuries, while increasing safe,
healthy, equitable mobility for all, by 2050

2. Reduce fatalities, serious injuries, number, and
severity of collisions (50% reduction in KSIs by
2030)

n/a

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis
Actual Oct 
Dec 20

Actual Jan 
Mar 21

Actual Apr 
Jun 21

Actual Jul 
Sep 21

Actual Oct
 Dec 21

Forecast
Oct  Dec
21

Comments Oct  Dec 21
Comparator
Group

9

P
age 83

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col12')


Strategic Risk

Strategic Risk Register

SR5.3 Provider failures result in the council being unable to achieve
its strategic objectives

Scott, Sarah High 25 High 20 High 20 High 20 High 20 High 20

There a number of key/significant challenges facing the care market
currently. These challenges are a result if a combination of factors that have
impacted on both home care provision and care home provision.

The 2020 pandemic, along with other factors has decreased the staffing levels in
care agencies and has increased the cost in delivery, costs for infection,
prevention and control are one of many factors, along with inflationary increases
and staff choosing to work in other industries.

The high level of hospital admission and the associated discharge has also had a
negative impact on the sector as many of those leaving hospital have a higher
level of acuity and are therefore impacting on staffing
levels as the individuals requires more support than usual

SR7.1
Failure to protect vulnerable adults in Gloucestershire from
abuse neglect in situations that potentially could have been
predicted and prevented.

Scott, Sarah High 20 Moderate 10 Moderate 10 Moderate 10 Moderate 10 Moderate
10

The Gloucestershire Safeguarding Adults Board has arranged a week of
roadshows to promote safeguarding adults issues and these will take place at the
end of April. The Roadshows are available to professionals across the multi
agency partnership and one day is designed for members of the public to attend.

The safeguarding adults team continues to experience a high number of
referrals; approval has been given to recruit an additional practitioner to assist
with addressing the referrals in a timely manner.

SR7.6

Unable to support all those who can, to live independently at
home, because demand for home care services outstrips
available capacity. Resulting in the reliance on temporary
respite/alternative bed based care in lieu of home care

Scott, Sarah High 20 Moderate 12 High 16 High 20 High 20 High 20

Domiciliary care continues to be stretched in both staffing and the model of
delivery. The independent market are also being used to support the Home First
GHC hospital discharge and admission avoidance service and is therefore also
being impacted by the level of hospital admissions and associated discharges.

We are working with providers to improve the model of delivery so care can be
more localised thereby improving access and potentially the carbon footprint

SR7.8

Risk of legal action being taken against the Local Authority due
to failure to complete a Deprivation of Liberty assessment
within the stated time lines. Since a significant and sudden
change in the law due to a Supreme Court Judgement in
March 2014 there is an excessively high demand for best
interest assessments to be carried out for Deprivation of
Liberty (DoLS) authorisations.

Scott, Sarah High 20 Moderate 9 Moderate 9 Moderate 9 Moderate 9
Moderate

9

The DoLS service continues to prioritise referrals for assessment using the
ADASS prioritisation tool. This is intended to ensure that people who are being
substantively deprived of their liberty receive an assessment urgently in order to
mitigate the risk of an unlawful deprivation of liberty for individuals most in need
of the protection of the safeguards.

Strategic Risk 5: Organisational Change Programmes

Risk Owner
Inherent
Risk

Mar21 Jun21 Sep21 Dec21
Actual
Mar22

DoT Mar
22

Mitigating Actions

Strategic Risk 7: Safeguarding Children, Young People & Adults

Risk Owner
Inherent
Risk

Mar21 Jun21 Sep21 Dec21
Actual
Mar22

DoT Mar
22

Mitigating Actions

10

P
age 84

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E1','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E1','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E1','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E1','Col15')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col15')


Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny Committee - Work Plan 2021/23

1

7 September 2021 9 November 2021 25 January 2022

Scrutiny items

1) Market Management Overview
2) Gloucestershire Safeguarding Board Annual 
Report 2020/21

Standard items 

Adult Social Care Report
Public Health Report
Community Safety Report
Quarter 1 2021/22 Performance Report

Scrutiny items

1) Prevention and Early Intervention Work in 
collaboration with the Voluntary and 
Community Sector

Standard items 

Adult Social Care Report
Public Health Report
Community Safety Report
Quarter 2 2021/22 Performance Report

Scrutiny items

1) Ombudsman ASC Public Interest Report
2) Director of Public Health Annual Report
3) Domiciliary Care Report

Standard items 

Adult Social Care Report
Public Health Report
Community Safety Report

8 March 2022 (Joint Meeting with HOSC) 10 May 2022 5 July 2022

Scrutiny items

1) Winter Plan Review (ASCC members to be 
invited to attend the HOSC meeting in October 
2021 for the item relating to proposals on the 
Winter Plan proposed by the NHS CCG)
2) Child Measurement Programme Briefing 
(briefing on the Child Measurement Programme 
including actions taken in response to the below 
national average (weight management) targets of 
Year 6 pupils in Gloucestershire).
Plus Standard report items (both committees)
Quarter 3 2021/22 Performance Report

Scrutiny items

1) Motion 890 (Domestic Abuse) Review
2) Voluntary and Community Sector Update 
(including Covid-19 Funding/Community 
Grant Schemes Overview)  
3) Drug/Alcohol Contract Briefing 
4) Trading Standards Presentation

Standard items 

Adult Social Care Report
Public Health Report
Community Safety Report

Scrutiny items

1) New Library Strategy 
2) Civil Protection Team Presentation (CFO)

Standard items 

Adult Social Care Report
Public Health Report
Community Safety Report
Quarter 4 2021/22 Performance Report

P
age 85

A
genda Item

 9



6 September 2022 15 November 2022 Jan 2023

Scrutiny items

Standard items 

Adult Social Care Report
Public Health Report 
Community Safety Report
Quarter 1 2022/23

Scrutiny items

Standard items 

Adult Social Care Report
Public Health Report
Community Safety Report
Quarter 2 2022/23 Performance Report

Scrutiny items

Standard items 

Adult Social Care Report
Public Health Report
Community Safety Report

Future and follow-on items:  

1. Domestic Abuse Update (children age under 13) – item first considered at the committee meeting on 10 May 2022 (Motion 890) 
2. Domestic Abuse Update – May 2023 (the update to incorporate the findings of the Local Partnership Board Task and Finish Group review, plus 
the outcomes of any work relating to early invention and accommodation based support) – item first considered at the May 2022 committee 
meeting (Motion 890). 
3. Contain Outbreak Management Fund (COMF) Funding Outcomes Analysis – periodical updates

P
age 86


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 New Library Strategy
	Item 4 - Library Strategy Presentation

	5 Chief Fire Officer Report
	6 Public Health Report
	7 Adult Social Care Report
	8 Quarter 4 Performance Report (2021/22)
	9 Work Plan



